A TEACHER'S GUIDE TO DETERMINED^{TO} BE EXTRAORDINARY SPECTACULAR STORIES OF MODERN WOMEN IN STEM

BY DAWN HEIMER, PHD

TEACHER'S GUIDE

DETERMINED TO BE Extraordinary

SPECTACULAR STORIES OF MODERN WOMEN IN STEM



SYNOPSIS

Twenty-seven inspiring women leaders in STEM from around the world come together to tell their original, passionate stories describing their perseverance, spirit, brilliance, and personal growth through words and photographs. Sadly, books about women in science for children are history books. Determined to be Extraordinary motivates children to pursue STEM careers by presenting contemporary, real-life examples of women successful in STEM. The role models they are looking for are right here, right now!

After reading children's science books targeted at girls, my 10-year-old and I were frustrated. Most of the women in the books were dead, so their stories were written by someone else, and the books were illustrated. Books of substance about modern contemporary female STEM role models do not exist. A reviewer of a competitive book remarked: "If someone has a recommendation for a good book about women scientists, I'd love to hear it..." This book project is the solution.

Representation matters. Cultural stereotypes can discourage girls from considering STEM fields as viable career paths. Seeing successful women in STEM fields can inspire and motivate young girls to pursue STEM careers. When they see someone who looks like them achieving greatness, it reinforces the belief that they can do it, too. 'Determined to be Extraordinary' isn't just a book – it's an invitation- to be inspired, to dream bigger, and to stand shoulder-to-shoulder with the phenomenal women shaping our future.

Placeholder for:

Ordering Information

Title: Determined to be Extraordinary Spectacular Stories of Modern Women in STEM Editor: Dawn Heimer, PhD Format: Paperback, Hardcover ISBNs: Paperback ISBN: 979-8-218-27542-6, Hardcover ISBN: 979-8-218-27541-9 Edition: 1st Edition Publisher: Bradway Publishing Publication Date: June 2024 Prices: Paperback: \$24.99, Hardcover: \$34.99 Where to Order: Online Retailers: Amazon, Barnes & Noble

CONTENTS

C	hapter Summaries and Key Points	. 1
V	ocabulary and Concepts	. 1
	Christina Goethel	2
	Lola Adeyemi	6
	Erika Ebbel Angle	9
	Eva Suarthana	13
	Anne Camille Talley	16
	Melanie L. Flores	19
	Trika Gerard	22
	Sandy Jo Macarthur	25
	Felecia Bowser	28
	Kimberly Smith	31
	Selina Webb	34
	Laurie Halloran	37
	Nikita Angane	41
	Laura Guertin	44
	Michele Finn	47
	Sandra Lopez Leon	51
	Erin Sawyer	54
	Rokelle Sun	57
	Emma Towlson	60
	Darcy Gagne	64
	Latha Parvataneni	67
	Elsa Salazar Cade	71
	Candice Hughes	75
	Adriana L. Romero-Olivares	78

	Charlotte Sibley	81
	Karin Hollerbach	85
	Fatemeh Razjouyan	88
D	Discussion Questions and Activities	92
	Christina Goethel	93
	Lola Adeyemi	95
	Erika Ebbel Angle	97
	Eva Suarthana	99
	Anne Camille Talley	101
	Melanie L. Flores	103
	Trika Gerard	105
	Sandy Jo Macarthur	107
	Felecia Bowser	109
	Kimberly Smith	111
	Selina Webb	113
	Laurie Halloran	115
	Nikita Angane	117
	Laura Guertin	119
	Michele Finn	121
	Sandra Lopez Leon	123
	Erin Sawyer	125
	Rokelle Sun	127
	Emma Towlson	129
	Darcy Gagne	131
	Latha Paravataneni	133
	Elsa Salazar Cade	135
	Candice Hughes	137
	Adriana L. Romero-Olivares	139

Charlotte Sibley	141
Karin Hollerbach	143
Fatemeh Razjouyan	145
Interactive Lesson Plans	147
Editor Bio	157



CHAPTER SUMMARIES AND KEY POINTS VOCABULARY AND CONCEPTS



CHRISTINA GOETHEL

Christina's chapter tells the story of her transformative journey from a curious child fascinated by the ocean to a passionate environmental scientist and teacher. Inspired by her aunt's lessons on New Hampshire beaches, Christina's interest in marine life deepened during an extraordinary trip to the Arctic at age fourteen with the People-to-People Student Ambassadors. Despite financial constraints and her mother's fear of the ocean, Christina's persistence in fundraising made this life-changing experience possible. On the trip, she marveled at the wonders of the Arctic, including an unforgettable encounter with blue whales. This expedition solidified her desire to study the Arctic further, supported by influential figures like her high school chemistry teacher, Mrs. Crawford, and mentors during her college years. Christina's determination led her to pursue advanced studies in environmental science, including a PhD degree, focusing on Arctic marine life. Her numerous Arctic research cruises, including an expedition to the North Pole, expanded her knowledge and professional network. Despite personal challenges, including the loss of her father, Christina remained committed to her research and teaching, inspired by the support and encouragement she received throughout her journey. Her story is a testament to the power of persistence, mentorship, and seizing opportunities, demonstrating how passion and hard work can shape a fulfilling career and personal growth in environmental science.

AA

Key Points:

LAB

- 1. **Early Interest in Marine Science:** Christina's early fascination with the ocean, nurtured through walks with her aunt, laid the foundation for her lifelong interest in marine biology.
- 2. **Challenges Overcome:** Financial constraints and her mother's fear of the ocean were significant hurdles. Her persistence in fundraising and her parents' encouragement were crucial, enabling her to participate in a life-changing trip to the Arctic.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

3. **Inspirational Arctic Expedition:** The trip to the Arctic, facilitated by the People-to-People Student Ambassadors program, was a pivotal experience. It provided her with firsthand exposure to marine research and solidified her passion for oceanography.

8AJ

- 4. **Mentorship and Support:** Key figures like her high school chemistry teacher, Mrs. Crawford, and scientists Dr. Jacqueline Grebmeier and Dr. Lee Cooper played instrumental roles as mentors. Their encouragement and guidance were vital in her pursuit of a career in science.
- 5. Academic and Research Achievements: Christina's journey included returning to the Arctic through a scholarship, conducting graduate research on the impact of ocean acidification on clams, and completing her PhD. Her work involved extensive field research in the Arctic, contributing to the understanding of marine ecosystems.
- 6. **Impact on Science and Society:** Her work not only advanced scientific knowledge in marine biology but also inspired others through her role as an educator. She shares her passion for environmental science with students, continuing the cycle of inspiration and mentorship.
- 7. **Personal Resilience and Dedication:** The loss of her father during an expedition and her decision to continue exemplifies her resilience and commitment to her work, honoring her father's support and encouragement.
- 8. **Recognition and Future Goals:** Her dedication was recognized with awards like the US Coast Guard Arctic Service Medal, and she aims to inspire future generations in environmental science.



Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

1. **Oceanography:** The branch of science that deals with the physical and biological properties and phenomena of the sea.

ЯA

- 2. **People-to-People Student Ambassadors:** A program offering educational travel opportunities for students.
- 3. **Phytoplankton:** Tiny plants that live in the ocean and form the base of many aquatic food webs.
- 4. **Fundraising:** The process of gathering voluntary contributions of money or other resources by requesting donations.
- 5. **Glaciers:** Large masses of ice that move slowly over land, often found in polar regions.
- 6. **Climate:** The weather conditions prevailing in an area over a long period.
- 7. Arctic: The polar region located at the northernmost part of Earth.
- 8. **Greenland:** The world's largest island, mostly covered in ice, known for its vast landscapes, predominantly Inuit population, and status as an autonomous Danish territory.
- 9. **Reykjavik**, **Iceland:** Reykjavik, the capital of Iceland, is the northernmost capital city in the world, famous for its geothermal energy, vibrant culture, and gateway to Iceland's dramatic natural landscapes.
- 10. **Denmark Strait:** The Denmark Strait is a body of water that separates Greenland and Iceland, known for its cold, deep currents and significant role in oceanic circulation.
- 11. **Pacific Walrus:** The Pacific Walrus is a large marine mammal found in the northern Pacific Ocean, recognizable by its long tusks, whiskers, and ability to live both in water and on land.
- 12. **Blowhole:** The hole on the top of a whale's head through which it breathes.
- 13.**US Coast Guard:** The US Coast Guard is a branch of the United States Armed Forces responsible for maritime safety, security, and environmental protection.
- 14. **Mentor:** A person who provides guidance and support, particularly in academic and professional contexts.
- 15. **Scholarship:** A grant or payment to support a student's education.
- 16. **Graduate student:** A student who has completed a bachelor's degree and is pursuing further education.
- 17. Research cruise: A voyage undertaken to conduct scientific research.

18. **Sea Education Association (SEA):** The Sea Education Association (SEA) is an organization that offers students sea-based educational programs focusing on oceanography, maritime studies, and environmental science.

ЯA

- 19. **Basket Star:** An animal with complex, branching arms, living in deep and shallow waters, mainly seen in coral reefs and the ocean floor.
- 20.**North Pole:** The North Pole is the northernmost point on Earth, lying diametrically opposite the South Pole. It is characterized by icy conditions and serves as the center of the Arctic region.
- 21. **Zooplankton:** Small aquatic animals that are usually the second link in the food chain, feeding on phytoplankton.
- 22. **Graduate research:** Advanced study and investigation conducted to acquire a higher degree in a specific field.
- 23. **Environmental scientist:** A scientist who studies the effects of human activities on the environment.
- 24. **Acidification:** The process by which a substance becomes acidic or increases in acid content.
- 25. **PhD (Doctor of Philosophy):** The highest university degree conferred after a course of study by universities in most countries.

LAB © Dawn Heimer 2023



Dr. Lola's story is a powerful testament to resilience and dedication to improving healthcare. Motivated by personal losses to diseases in her family, she founded Magna Carta Health in Nigeria, confronting the challenges of starting a business in a country many have left. Her journey took her from a sickness-riddled childhood across three continents to obtaining advanced degrees in public health and environmental management from prestigious universities. Her company now serves around 20,000 patients yearly, focusing on personalized and preventive care to combat preventable diseases. Dr. Lola's entrepreneurial venture, born from a blend of personal experience and professional expertise, emphasizes the power of persistence and the impact one individual can have on global health equity. AA

Key Points:

- 1. **Motivation Through Personal Loss:** Dr. Lola was driven to change healthcare practices due to the loss of numerous family members and friends to diseases, particularly cancer. These personal tragedies ignited her desire to improve health outcomes.
- 2. **Childhood and Early Influences:** Having lived on three continents by age 10 and experiencing health problems herself, Dr. Lola developed a belief in the importance of helping others, inspired by figures like Mother Teresa and her parents' altruistic actions.
- 3. **Educational Path and Realizations:** Dr. Lola's journey to becoming a doctor and later pursuing a master's degree in public health at Johns Hopkins University deepened her understanding of the link between health and the environment. This education highlighted the impact of environmental factors on health.
- 4. **Founding Magna Carta Health:** Despite lucrative job offers, Dr. Lola chose to establish her own health company, Magna Carta Health, in

© Dawn Heimer 2023

Nigeria, focusing on preventive care and personalized healthcare. This was a challenging path involving personal financial sacrifices.

- 5. **Preventive Healthcare Approach:** Her approach emphasized patient education and access to healthcare, addressing the cycle of poor health and poverty. Her work mainly targets preventable diseases in impoverished communities.
- 6. **Advancing Global Health Equity:** Dr. Lola's vision incorporated using modern technology to improve patient outcomes and quality of life, aiming for global health equity where health is accessible to all, regardless of socioeconomic status.
- 7. **Personal Sacrifices and Challenges:** Starting Magna Carta Health involved significant personal and financial risks, but her determination to make a difference in healthcare drove her forward.
- 8. **Impact and Successes:** The company has significantly impacted health outcomes by providing speedy diagnosis and treatment in underserved areas. A poignant example is her successful intervention in a friend's health by diagnosing and managing HIV through preventive healthcare.
- 9. **Belief and Leadership:** Dr. Lola's story underscores the power of belief in oneself and one's vision. Her journey demonstrates that leadership in healthcare innovation can stem from a strong commitment to solving real-world problems.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Magna Carta Health:** A healthcare company providing services to patients, founded by Dr. Lola in Nigeria.
- 2. **Motivation:** The reason or reasons one has for acting or behaving in a particular way.
- 3. **Preventive Healthcare:** Medical care that focuses on disease prevention and health maintenance.
- 4. Tenacity: The quality or fact of being very determined; determination.

- 5. **Nigeria:** Nigeria is a country in West Africa, known for being the continent's most populous nation and having a rich cultural heritage and diverse ecosystems.
- 6. **Mother Teresa:** Mother Teresa was a Catholic nun and missionary who founded the Missionaries of Charity and devoted her life to helping the poor, sick, and dying, particularly in Kolkata, India.
- 7. **Socioeconomic:** The combination of social and economic factors that influence and determine individuals' or groups' positions and interactions within society.
- 8. **Quality of Life:** Quality of life is a measure that evaluates the general well-being of individuals and societies, encompassing factors like health, comfort, happiness, and prosperity.
- 9. **Lagos State:** Lagos State is a region in southwestern Nigeria known for being the country's economic hub and housing. Lagos is one of Africa's largest and fastest-growing cities.
- 10.**Public Health:** The science and art of preventing disease, prolonging life, and promoting human health through organized efforts and informed choices of society, organizations, public and private communities, and individuals.
- 11. **Master's Degree:** An academic degree granted by universities upon completion of a course of study demonstrating mastery or a high-order overview of a specific field of study or area of professional practice.
- 12. **Environmental Factors:** Elements in the environment that can affect health, such as pollution.
- 13. **Sustainability and Environmental Management:** A field of study and practice focusing on how to manage the use of natural resources in a sustainable manner.
- 14. **Global Health Equity:** The concept and goal of ensuring that everyone has the opportunity to attain their highest level of health, regardless of geographic, economic, or social barriers.
- 15. **Diagnosis:** The identification of the nature of an illness or other problem by examination of the symptoms.
- 16. **HIV:** Human Immunodeficiency Virus, a virus that attacks the immune system and can lead to AIDS (Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome) if not treated.
- 17. **Preventative Medicine:** A branch of medical science focusing on preventing disease and promoting health.
- 18. **Vision:** The ability to think about or plan the future with imagination or wisdom.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

ERIKA EBBEL ANGLE

Erika's story is a compelling narrative of her evolution from a compassionate child influenced by her mother's nursing work with underprivileged communities to a dedicated science enthusiast and advocate for STEM education. Her early exposure to poverty and volunteering sparked a deep interest in science, leading her to seek mentorship for a science fair project at only eleven years old. This passion for science flourished through her school years, culminating in the creation of "Science from Scientists" (SfS) while at MIT, an initiative aimed at fostering children's interest in STEM. Erika's journey was further enriched by her experience as Miss Massachusetts, which provided a larger platform to challenge stereotypes and promote STEM education. Today, SfS is a testament to her commitment to enhancing science education and inspiring the next generation. AA

Key Points:

- 1. **Early Exposure to Healthcare Needs:** Accompanying her mother, a nurse, to free clinics, she witnessed firsthand the healthcare struggles of underprivileged communities. This early exposure instilled in her a deep sense of empathy and a desire to assist those in need.
- 2. Volunteerism and Science Passion: Her involvement in community service at the Martin Luther King Center, where she helped with homework and taught piano, nurtured her love for volunteering and teaching. Simultaneously, her interest in science was sparked by unique educational experiences during a school vacation.
- 3. Scientific Curiosity and Research: Her curiosity about the natural world led to a sixth-grade science fair project exploring whether cells "commit suicide" when infected by viruses. This project marked the beginning of her scientific journey despite initial challenges in finding a mentor and understanding complex scientific concepts.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

4. **Mentorship and Persistence:** Her perseverance in seeking out a mentor and her dedication to learning complex scientific topics from textbooks provided by Michael, a director at a public health laboratory, exemplify her determination and resilience.

ØΑ

- 5. Accomplishments in Science Fairs and Research: Her continued research on herbal remedies for the herpes virus and subsequent work at renowned institutions like Genentech and Stanford University highlights her significant contributions to scientific research as a young scientist.
- 6. **STEM Advocacy and Education:** Disappointed by the waning interest in STEM among students, especially girls, she founded "Science from Scientists" (SfS) to inspire children through hands-on science fair projects. This initiative reflects her commitment to improving STEM education and fostering a love for science in the next generation.
- 7. **Miss Massachusetts and Self-Improvement:** Her participation in the Miss America program, culminating in her becoming Miss Massachusetts, demonstrates her belief in self-improvement and the power of public speaking and presentation skills.
- 8. **Impact of Science from Scientists (SfS):** SfS has significantly improved student interest in STEM and has been recognized for its effectiveness in raising test scores and engaging thousands of students in science education.
- 9. **Personal Growth Philosophy:** Her journey underscores the importance of self-improvement, identifying weaknesses, and transforming them into strengths. She advocates for the belief in one's ability to achieve goals and the transformative power of focused effort.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

1. Immigrants: People who come to live permanently in a foreign country.

- 2. **Free Clinics:** Medical facilities offering community healthcare services at little or no cost.
- 3. Volunteering: Offering services for free to help people or causes.
- 4. **Martin Luther King Center:** A community center likely named after Dr. Martin Luther King Jr., focused on community support and development.
- 5. **STEM:** An acronym for science, technology, engineering, and mathematics, referring to these academic disciplines collectively.
- 6. **Microbiology:** The study of microscopic organisms, such as bacteria, viruses, archaea, fungi, and protozoa.
- 7. **Immunology:** The branch of science dealing with the immune system and its response to pathogens.
- 8. **Herpes Simplex Type 1:** A virus causing cold sores can be passed from one person to another through close contact, like kissing or sharing a drink.
- 9. **Petri Dishes:** A shallow cylindrical glass or plastic lidded dish used to culture bacteria or other microorganisms.
- 10. **Biotechnology Companies:** Companies that use biological systems or living organisms to develop or create different products.
- 11. **Herbal Remedies:** Medicine made from plants and used to treat or prevent disease.
- 12. **Extracts:** Substances made by extracting a part of a raw material.
- 13. **Genentech and Perkin Elmer Applied Biosystems:** Companies specializing in biotechnology and genetic research.
- 14. **Intel Science Talent Search:** A competition for high school seniors in the United States focusing on scientific research.
- 15. **MIT:** The Massachusetts Institute of Technology, a prestigious university in Cambridge, Massachusetts, renowned for its cutting-edge research and education in technology, science, and engineering.
- 16.**The America's Cup:** A prestigious yacht race, known as the oldest trophy in international sports, where teams compete in sailing and nautical engineering.
- 17.**Bermuda:** A British island territory in the North Atlantic, known for its pink-sand beaches, subtropical climate, and as a financial services hub.
- 18. **TV Tuner:** A TV tuner is a device that allows televisions or other displays to receive and display television broadcast signals.
- 19. **Miss America:** A beauty pageant and scholarship program for women in the United States.

© Dawn Heimer 2023



- 21. **Personal Trainer:** A person who coaches others to achieve their fitness and health goals.
- 22. **Pageants:** Competitions or beauty contests, often with different rounds, including interviews, talent displays, and presentations.



EVA SUARTHANA

This chapter chronicles the remarkable journey of a young woman from Indonesia, Eva, whose early exposure to illness in her family inspired her to pursue a career in medicine. Excelling academically, she earned a place at Indonesia's most prestigious medical school, where she developed a passion for public health and epidemiology. This passion led her to the Netherlands for further study, where she faced the challenges of adapting to a new culture and language while also embracing her identity as a Muslim in a predominantly non-Muslim country. Her academic pursuits in clinical epidemiology led to significant research contributions, particularly in the field of occupational health. Her journey continued in the United States and Canada, where she worked on various public health projects, balancing her career with motherhood and family life. Her story is a testament to the power of education, perseverance, and the pursuit of knowledge across borders, demonstrating how one individual's journey can impact the health and wellbeing of many. ØA

Key Points:

- 1. **Early Inspiration and Education:** Inspired by her family's medical experiences, she pursued a medical degree at the University of Indonesia, where she was exposed to community medicine and public health.
- 2. **Public Health Initiatives:** Her early medical school projects involved educating young mothers about preventing dehydration and working with companies to provide safety training, highlighting the importance of preventive health care.
- 3. International Education and Challenges: Winning a scholarship for a master's degree in Clinical Epidemiology in the Netherlands, she faced the challenges of adapting to a new culture and lifestyle, learning to live

© Dawn Heimer 2023

as a minority, and dealing with misconceptions about her Muslim identity.

ЯA

- 4. **Research in Epidemiology:** Her PhD research at Utrecht University focused on developing prediction models for occupational diseases, specifically allergies in bakery workers. Her work was recognized and used as a screening tool by the European Respiratory Society Task Force.
- 5. **Mentorship and Career Development:** Influential mentors like Dr. Diederick Grobbee and Dr. Denyse Gautrin played significant roles in her career. Her experiences at scientific meetings and participation in the Epidemic Intelligence Service in the US furthered her skills and network.
- 6. **Balancing Family and Career:** She navigated the challenges of being a working mother while continuing her research and teaching.
- 7. **Impact on Women's Health:** Her work in Canada includes developing prediction models for asthma and creating mobile apps and online calculators for global use. She also contributes to research in women's health and cervical cancer awareness in Indonesia.
- 8. **Teaching and Ongoing Contributions:** As an Adjunct Professor at McGill University, she teaches epidemiology and statistics to medical doctors, emphasizing the importance of research in medical practice.
- 9. **Global Outlook and Diversity:** Her story emphasizes the value of understanding different cultures and the importance of confidence, hard work, motivation, and teamwork in achieving success.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

1. **Valedictorian:** The student with the highest academic achievements in a graduating class.

2. **Indonesia:** A Southeast Asian country made up of thousands of volcanic islands, known for its diverse cultures, languages, and landscapes, ranging from beaches to jungles and volcanoes.

ЯA

- 3. **Dehydration:** A condition caused by the excessive loss of water from the body.
- 4. **Epidemiology:** The study of the distribution and determinants of health-related states or events in specified populations and the application of this study to control health problems.
- 5. **Public Health:** The science of protecting and improving the health of people and their communities.
- 6. **Rotterdam:** A major port city in the Netherlands known for its modern architecture, maritime heritage, and vibrant cultural scene.
- 7. **Asthma:** A chronic respiratory condition characterized by airway inflammation and constriction, causing difficulty breathing, coughing, and wheezing.
- 8. **Global Workforce:** The global workforce refers to the international labor pool, including all workers engaged in employment or seeking employment across different countries.
- 9. **Epidemic Intelligence Service (EIS):** A program of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) that works on investigating and controlling public health problems.
- 10. **National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH):** A U.S. federal agency responsible for conducting research and making recommendations for the prevention of work-related injury and illness.
- 11. **Clinical Epidemiology:** A field of study that focuses on patients and the application of epidemiological methods to clinical medicine.
- 12. **Prediction Model:** A mathematical tool used to predict future events based on current and historical data.
- 13. **Adjunct Professor:** A professor who teaches on a contract basis rather than being a full-time faculty member at a university.
- 14. **Obstetrics and Gynecology:** A medical specialty dealing with childbirth and care of the female reproductive system.
- 15. **Cervical Cancer:** A type of cancer that occurs in the cells of the cervix the lower part of the uterus in women.
- 16.**Health Technology Assessment (HTA):** The systematic evaluation of properties, effects, and/or impacts of health technology, primarily to inform decision-making at policy and practice levels.

LAB

© Dawn Heimer 2023

ANNE CAMILLE TALLEY

Anne's story is a testament to the power of adaptability and interdisciplinary learning. Beginning with struggles in learning multiplication, her brother Patrick's unique teaching approach opened her eyes to using existing skills in new contexts. This foundation led her to blend her interests in art and science, ultimately earning a biology degree. Her career path took an unconventional turn when she became the first public relations officer at a marine biological laboratory, combining her scientific knowledge with her newly acquired business acumen from an MBA. This unique skill set positioned her perfectly for the burgeoning field of biotechnology, where she co-founded a consulting firm. Anne's journey exemplifies the fusion of science, business, and technology, demonstrating how embracing a multifaceted approach to learning and career can lead to unexpected and rewarding opportunities. AA

16

Key Points:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Early Learning Challenges and Solutions:** Her struggle with multiplication tables in fourth grade was mitigated by her brother's creative teaching methods, which combined addition skills with multiplication. This approach instilled a valuable lesson in finding alternative solutions to challenges.
- 2. **Art and Science Intersection:** Her art classes with nuns during childhood provided a foundation for understanding the interplay between science and creativity, emphasizing the importance of a well-rounded education.
- 3. Educational Background and Career: After completing a bachelor's degree in biology, she pursued a job at a marine biological laboratory, where she became the first public relations officer. Her career choice was influenced by her father's advice on seeking opportunities.

4. **Integration of Science and Business:** Encouraged by her brother, she pursued an MBA, which, combined with her science background, uniquely positioned her in the emerging field of biotechnology.

ЯA

- 5. **Consulting in Biotechnology:** She co-founded a consulting business, leveraging her dual expertise in science and business to bridge the gap between these fields, particularly for companies investing in biotechnology.
- 6. **Career in Market Research for Biotechnology:** Her work involved translating complex scientific information into actionable insights for product development in biotechnology and pharmaceuticals, demonstrating the value of interdisciplinary skills.
- 7. **Approach to Technology and Continuous Learning:** She adopted a pragmatic approach to new technologies, learning just enough to utilize them effectively while relying on foundational skills and adaptability.
- 8. **Personal Philosophy on Education and Career:** Her journey exemplifies the significance of integrating various disciplines (STEM, Religion, and Art) to navigate and seize opportunities, likening it to moving across a stream and finding confluences.
- 9. **Personal Life:** The chapter concludes with a hint at her personal life, mentioning a "prince" and suggesting a balance between her professional achievements and personal fulfillment.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **"Behind Expectations":** Refers to being below the standard or level anticipated, particularly in academic learning.
- 2. **Confluence:** The act of merging or coming together; in this context, it refers to the blending of different disciplines (like addition and multiplication).
- 3. **Work-Around:** An alternative method to achieve a desired result, especially when the usual method is unavailable or difficult.

4. **Convent:** A community or residence of nuns; in this story, it's where the art classes were held.

ЯA

- 5. **Physics:** A branch of science concerned with the nature and properties of matter and energy.
- 6. **Marine Biological Laboratory:** A research facility focused on marine biology; in this context, it's a place of potential employment.
- 7. **Public Relations Officer:** A professional responsible for managing the public image and communications of an organization.
- 8. **Intersection:** In this context, this is the point where opportunity and preparation meet.
- 9. **Master's Degree in Business Administration (MBA):** A graduate-level degree focusing on business and management skills.
- 10. **Biotechnology:** The use of biological processes, organisms, or systems to manufacture products intended to improve the quality of human life.
- 11. **Market Research:** The process of gathering, analyzing, and interpreting information about a market, including about customers, competitors, and the industry as a whole.
- 12. Flow of Information: Refers to the movement and exchange of data and insights, particularly in a business or scientific context.
- 13. **Buckle Down:** To start working seriously on something.

LAB

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 14. **STEM:** An acronym for science, technology, engineering, and mathematics, referring to these academic disciplines collectively.
- 15. **STREAM:** An expanded version of STEM, adding Religion and Arts to the acronym.



This chapter tells Melanie's story, which is a compelling narrative of resilience and adaptability, shaped by her experiences as a military child who moved frequently, learning to thrive in each new environment. Excelling in STEM subjects, Melanie was inspired by passionate teachers and pursued a degree in chemical engineering at MIT. Her career began as a Production Shift Supervisor in an optical fiber factory, where she led a team and managed complex manufacturing processes, often working grueling rotating shifts. This role taught her valuable lessons in prioritization, problem-solving, and effective communication. Later, as a manufacturing engineer, she honed skills in detailed planning and observation, leading to her involvement in setting up a new manufacturing plant. This experience was both challenging and fulfilling, culminating in a celebrated moment when the plant produced its first optical fiber. Melanie's journey highlights the importance of creativity in STEM fields and the ability to create lasting impact through her work, drawing from her childhood experiences of constant change and adaptation. AA

Key Points:

- 1. **Early Resilience and Academic Strength:** Growing up in a military family, she learned to adapt to new environments and found strength in her STEM classes, where she excelled in math and science.
- 2. **Inspirational Teachers:** Influential teachers in middle and high school played a crucial role in developing her passion for STEM. Her success in these subjects led to her admission to MIT, where she pursued chemical engineering.
- 3. **Professional Journey in Optical Fiber Manufacturing:** After college, she worked as a Production Shift Supervisor in an optical fiber factory, where she led a team and managed the production process. Her role required adaptability to rotating shifts and continuous problem-solving.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 4. Learning Valuable Work Skills: She learned to prioritize problems, communicate effectively, and work with people from diverse backgrounds. These skills were crucial in her transition from production to engineering, where she focused on increasing outputs, reducing costs, and improving safety.
- 5. **Joining a Startup Team:** Embracing a significant career opportunity, she joined the startup team for a new manufacturing plant, contributing to the installation and debugging of equipment and training new staff.
- 6. **Creativity and Impact in STEM:** She highlights the creative aspect of STEM careers and the opportunity they offer to make a significant impact. Her work in optical fiber manufacturing contributed to advancements in global internet connectivity.
- 7. **Leveraging Childhood Experiences:** Her childhood experiences of constant relocation helped her develop a passion for building lasting and impactful projects, exemplified by her work in establishing the optical fiber facility.
- 8. **Lifelong Learning and Skill Application:** She emphasizes the importance of continuous learning and applying skills across various aspects of her career, from manufacturing to e-commerce.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

- 1. **Resilient:** The ability to quickly recover from or adapt to difficult conditions.
- 2. **STEM:** An acronym for science, technology, engineering, and mathematics, referring to these academic disciplines collectively.
- 3. **Amoeba:** A single-celled organism often studied in biology, known for its changing shape.
- 4. **Chemical Engineering:** A field of engineering that deals with the design and operation of industrial chemical plants.
- 5. Advanced Placement (AP): Advanced Placement (AP) is a program offering college-level courses and exams to high school students with the opportunity to earn college credit or advanced placement in college courses.

20

© Dawn Heimer 2023

6. **Fertilizers:** Fertilizers are substances added to soil to supply essential nutrients to plants, promoting growth and increasing crop yield.

ЯA

- 7. **Optical Fiber:** Thin fibers made of glass or plastic used to transmit light signals, primarily for telecommunications and networking.
- 8. **Production Shift Supervisor:** A managerial position responsible for overseeing the operations of a factory during a specific time period or shift.
- 9. **Rotating Shift Work:** A work schedule that rotates between different shifts, often disrupting regular sleep patterns.
- 10. **Manufacturing Engineer:** An engineer who focuses on designing, implementing, and improving manufacturing processes.
- 11. **Scaling Smartly:** The practice of testing changes on a small scale before implementing them broadly.
- 12. **Debugging:** The process of identifying and resolving defects or problems within a system, often used in reference to computer programs or machinery.
- 13. **Creativity:** The ability to generate or recognize ideas, alternatives, or possibilities that may be useful in solving problems, communicating, and entertaining.
- 14. **E-commerce:** Commercial transactions conducted electronically on the Internet.



© Dawn Heimer 2023



TRIKA GERARD

Trika's chapter narrates her journey from being a curious child in St. Thomas, US Virgin Islands, to becoming a distinguished scientist in marine environmental science. Growing up, her fascination with the natural world and the interconnections within it set the stage for her scientific inclinations. Despite facing the challenge of being in a minority both in her interests and demographics, she persevered in her passion for biology, initially influenced by her inspiring tenth-grade biology teacher, Mr. Gumbs. Though her path wasn't straightforward, shifting from computer science to medical technology before finally settling on biology, Trika remained true to her unique interests. Her academic pursuit culminated in a PhD in environmental science, a field predominantly occupied by white males, often leaving her as one of the few African American women in the room. Her career with the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) has spanned over two decades, including significant research on early marine life history and groundbreaking work in fisheries oceanography around Cuba, earning her the NOAA Administrators Award. Trika's story is one of resilience and dedication to a field she loves, striving to make a difference despite feeling like a 'small fish in a large ocean,' and hoping to inspire change in the representation of African American women in science and engineering.

AA

22

Key Points:

LAB

- 1. **Early Interest in Science:** Growing up in the US Virgin Islands, her fascination with the natural world and the interactions of living organisms sparked her interest in science.
- 2. **Influential High School Education:** A challenging biology course with Mr. Austin Gumbs solidified her interest in science. Despite its difficulty, she excelled and was inspired by the subject matter.
- 3. **Pursuing Science Against Societal Norms:** She faced a conflict between her passion for science and societal expectations. Her family

© Dawn Heimer 2023

and peers had different career aspirations, and she initially chose a more conventional major in college before ultimately switching to biology.

- 4. **Challenges in Marine Environmental Science:** As an African American woman in a field dominated by white males, she often felt isolated and underrepresented, both academically and professionally.
- 5. **Career with NOAA:** Her work at the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) involved crucial research on marine life, particularly focusing on the early life stages of fish and their impact on marine ecosystems.
- 6. **Groundbreaking Research and Recognition:** Her most notable accomplishment was leading the first fisheries oceanography survey around Cuba, a significant achievement recognized with the NOAA Administrator's Award.
- 7. **Impact and Representation:** Despite feeling like a minority in her field, she is driven to excel and hopes her story will inspire more African-American women to pursue careers in science and engineering.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

- 1. **US Virgin Islands:** A group of islands in the Caribbean that are an organized, unincorporated United States territory.
- 2. **Snorkeling:** A swimming activity where a person uses a mask and a short tube to breathe while floating face-down on the surface of the water, often used for observing underwater life.
- 3. **Iguanas:** A type of large lizard found in tropical areas, often seen in the Caribbean.
- 4. **Biology:** A branch of science that studies living organisms and their interactions with each other and their environments.
- 5. **Marine Life:** Aquatic creatures living in the ocean and other saltwater environments.
- 6. **Computer Science:** The study of computers and computational systems, including their theory, design, development, and application.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

7. **Medical Technology:** A field of study and practice that applies technological advancements to the diagnosis and treatment of medical conditions.

ЯA

- 8. **The Scientific Method:** The scientific method is a systematic process of observation, experimentation, and analysis used to generate knowledge and understand natural phenomena.
- 9. **Cuba:** Cuba is a Caribbean island nation under communist rule, known for its rich culture, history, vintage cars, cigars, and significant political and historical influence.
- 10. **Wildlife Knows No Boundaries:** "Wildlife knows no boundaries" is a principle acknowledging that animals and ecosystems transcend human-imposed borders, highlighting the need for international cooperation in conservation efforts.
- 11. **Doctorate (PhD) in Environmental Science:** The highest level of academic degree in the study of the environment, focusing on understanding and solving environmental problems.
- 12. **Marine Environmental Science:** A field of study that focuses on understanding and managing marine ecosystems and resources.
- 13. **National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA):** A scientific and regulatory agency within the United States Department of Commerce focused on the conditions of the oceans and the atmosphere.
- 14. **Chief of Staff for Science and Research:** A high-level executive position responsible for overseeing scientific research and related activities within an organization.
- 15. **NOAA Administrators Award:** A prestigious recognition awarded by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration for significant contributions to the agency's programs.
- 16. **Fisheries Oceanography Survey:** A scientific study that examines the relationships between fish populations and their oceanic environment.



SANDY JO MACARTHUR

Sandy Jo's story is a testament to her determination to transcend societal expectations and pursue her passions. Inspired by her mother's unconventional career and inspirational mindset led her to a groundbreaking career in law enforcement with the Los Angeles Police Department, where she became an Assistant Chief. Facing and overcoming challenges such as prejudice and bullying, Sandy's journey is marked by resilience, confidence, and preparedness. Her 35-year career significantly increased female representation in the police force, and her adventurous spirit remained alive through scuba diving and safaris. Sandy's narrative underscores the importance of dreaming big and taking control of one's destiny.

AA

Key Points:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Early Aspirations and Challenges:** From a young age, she was intrigued by adventurous activities and faced discouragement from counselors and teachers regarding her ambitions, particularly in fields not traditionally pursued by women.
- 2. **Influence of Parents:** Her parents, especially her mother, who worked in a non-traditional job for women, played a crucial role in inspiring her to pursue her dreams and not limit herself.
- 3. **Supportive Friendships:** Her childhood friend, Marge, provided constant support and encouragement, helping her to pursue new experiences and solidify her ambitions.
- 4. **Pursuit of Scuba Diving:** Her discovery of scuba diving classes and subsequent participation symbolized her determination to follow her dreams despite geographical and societal limitations.
- 5. **Career in Law Enforcement:** Despite societal norms, she pursued a career in law enforcement, graduating from Arizona State University



- 6. **Overcoming Gender Barriers:** She faced and overcame challenges in a male-dominated field, including bullying and doubts about her capabilities due to her gender.
- 7. **Impact and Leadership in Policing:** Her dedication led to a successful 35-year career in the LAPD, rising through the ranks to Assistant Chief. She played a significant role in increasing female representation in the department.
- 8. **Continued Passion for Adventure and Science:** Throughout her career, she maintained her love for science and adventure, engaging in activities like scuba diving and safaris.
- 9. **Legacy and Volunteering:** Even after retirement, she continues to volunteer as a police officer and shares her experiences to inspire and educate others in law enforcement.
- 10. **Message of Empowerment:** Her story is a testament to the power of dreaming big, the importance of persistence, and the impact one can have by following one's passions and helping others.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Scuba Diving:** An underwater diving method that involves using a selfcontained underwater breathing apparatus (scuba) to breathe underwater.
- 2. **Criminal Justice:** The system of practices and institutions of governments directed at upholding social control, deterring and mitigating crime, or sanctioning those who violate laws with criminal penalties and rehabilitation efforts.
- 3. Los Angeles Police Department: The police department serving the city of Los Angeles, California, is known for its large size and diverse responsibilities in law enforcement.



4. **Police Academy:** A training school for new police recruits, where they learn various aspects of law enforcement, including law, policy, procedures, and physical fitness.

ЯA

- 5. **Mentally Fit:** Being mentally fit refers to having good psychological health, characterized by the ability to manage stress, maintain positive relationships, and cope with life's challenges effectively.
- 6. **Inner Strength:** Inner strength is the personal resilience and mental fortitude that enables individuals to face adversity, overcome challenges, and pursue their goals despite obstacles.
- 7. **Workplace Diversity:** Workplace diversity involves the inclusion of individuals from various backgrounds, cultures, races, genders, and orientations, contributing to a rich, dynamic, and innovative work environment.
- 8. **Galapagos Islands:** An archipelago of volcanic islands distributed on either side of the equator in the Pacific Ocean, known for their vast number of endemic species and association with Charles Darwin's theory of evolution.
- 9. **Tanzania:** A country in East Africa known for its vast wilderness areas, including the plains of the Serengeti National Park and Kilimanjaro National Park.
- 10.**Camera Safari:** A type of safari focused on wildlife photography and observation, often conducted in African countries renowned for their diverse wildlife.
- 11. **Community Policing:** A strategy of policing that focuses on building ties and working closely with community members to maintain public safety and prevent crime.
- 12. **Leadership:** The action of leading a group of people or an organization, often involving guiding others, making decisions, and setting examples.





Felecia details her journey from being a young girl fascinated by weather to a successful meteorologist inspired by a weather book gifted to her by her parents. Despite struggles in physics, crucial for her field, and discouragement from a college math teacher who suggested she quit school, Felecia's unwavering drive and determination, plus the support from her friends, propelled her forward. She overcame academic challenges and disproved her doubters by graduating from a rigorous meteorology program. Now a member of a prestigious meteorology organization and a role model, especially for young girls, Felecia demonstrates the impact of perseverance, positive support, and self-belief in achieving one's dreams.

ØA

Key Points:

- 1. **Early Interest in Meteorology:** Her passion for meteorology was sparked by a weather book gift from her parents and nurtured through additional learning resources and encouragement.
- 2. **High School Encouragement:** A high school science teacher further fueled her interest by providing her with educational materials on hurricanes and tornadoes, giving her a deeper insight into weather phenomena.
- 3. **Struggles in Physics:** Despite being passionate about meteorology, she struggled with physics, a critical component of her desired field. Her determination led her to seek extra help and fully engage with her studies.
- 4. **Discouragement and Perseverance:** A demoralizing encounter with a college mathematics teacher who doubted her capabilities became a catalyst for her determination to succeed, proving the teacher's negative predictions wrong.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 5. **Reduction in Meteorology Program Candidates:** From an initial 300 students, only 30 graduated from the meteorology program, illustrating the challenging nature of the field and her perseverance.
- 6. **Support System in College:** A tight-knit group of friends provided mutual support and motivation, helping each other through tough times with a shared mantra.
- 7. **Career Advancement:** She achieved success in her field, climbing the ranks in a notable meteorology organization and becoming a member of the management team.
- 8. **Role Model to Young Students:** Through her outreach work, she inspires elementary and junior high school students, especially young girls, demonstrating that women can excel in meteorology and STEM fields.
- 9. **Impact on Community and Future Generations:** Her school talks serve as a way to positively influence her community and inspire the next generation, making her role both fulfilling and enjoyable.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Meteorologist:** A scientist who studies the weather, including atmospheric phenomena and forecasting.
- 2. **Meteorologist-in-Charge:** The meteorologist-in-charge is a senior position within a weather station or meteorological office, responsible for overseeing all operational, administrative, and scientific activities.
- 3. **Physics:** A crucial subject in meteorology, physics is the natural science that studies matter, its motion and behavior through space and time, and the related entities of energy and force.
- 4. **Office Hours:** Designated times set by college professors when they are available to answer students' questions and provide additional help outside of regular class hours.
- 5. **Willpower:** Willpower is the ability to control impulses and make decisions that align with one's goals, demonstrating self-discipline and determination in the face of challenges.
6. **Volunteering:** Offering to do work or provide services of your own free will without payment. In this context, it refers to gaining experience in a chosen field of work.

8A)

30

- 7. **Mathematics:** A field of study that deals with numbers, quantities, and shapes. Mathematics is important in many fields, including meteorology.
- 8. Berate: To scold or criticize someone harshly.

LAB

- 9. **Meteorology Organization:** A group or institution that specializes in the study and forecasting of weather.
- 10. **Management Team:** A group of individuals who manage and direct an organization or a part of it.
- 11. **All-nighter:** A session of staying awake all night to study or work, typically done by students.
- 12. **Mantra:** A statement or slogan that is repeated frequently, often for motivation or to maintain focus.



Kimberly's chapter showcases her journey from aspiring "mad scientist" to a successful geologist and environmental advocate, overcoming challenges like ADD and scoliosis along the way. Kimberly pursued geology with determination, working multiple jobs through college to fund her education. Her passion led her to significant conservation work, protecting an endangered species, the Piping Plover, and earning recognition for her contributions. Despite personal hardships, including the loss of her mother to COVID-19, Kimberly channeled her struggles into professional growth, eventually advancing to a national-level position as an Environmental Geologist. Her experiences in modeling and pageantry, notably as Ms. International World Italy, helped her embrace her unique qualities, underscoring her resilience and commitment to following her dreams in the face of adversity.

ØA

Key Points:

- 1. **Early Passion for Science:** Her love for science, particularly geology, was sparked at a young age and nurtured by her parents and teachers.
- 2. **Overcoming Learning and Physical Challenges:** Diagnosed with Attention Deficit Disorder (ADD) and scoliosis, she faced additional challenges in her educational journey but remained determined to succeed.
- 3. **Determination in the Face of Discouragement:** Despite a college professor's discouragement, she was motivated to prove her capabilities, using the negative feedback as a catalyst for her perseverance.
- 4. **Pursuing Geology Against Odds:** She became the first person in her father's family to attend college, choosing geology for its uniqueness

© Dawn Heimer 2023

and growing demand. She faced financial challenges but was committed to achieving her goals.

- 5. **Environmental Conservation Work:** Her work with the Friends of Recreation, Conservation and Environmental Stewardship (FORCES) program involved repairing beaches and protecting endangered species like the piping plover, demonstrating a commitment to environmental stewardship.
- 6. **Innovation in STEM Award:** Her innovative research and environmental work earned her recognition from her university, highlighting her contributions to community and environmental health.
- 7. **Career in Environmental Geology:** Despite initial job search challenges in Florida, she found a position as an Environmental Geologist, utilizing her skills in the technical and developmental aspects of the role.
- 8. **Modeling and Pageantry:** Engaging in modeling and pageantry, she was crowned Ms. International World Italy, using this platform to promote opportunities for women in STEM and embrace her uniqueness.
- 9. **Coping with Personal Loss:** The loss of her mother to COVID-19 was a significant personal challenge, but she channeled her grief into further professional development and growth.
- 10. **Expansion and Success in Construction Management:** Her journey led to a master's degree in Construction Management, where she navigates being a woman in a male-dominated field, focusing on land development and building strong professional relationships.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

1. **"Mad Scientist":** A term often used humorously to describe a scientist who experiments and invents in an unorthodox or unrestrained manner.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 2. **Geology:** The science that deals with the Earth's physical structure and substance, its history, and the processes that act on it.
- 3. **Geologist:** A scientist who specializes in the study of the Earth, including its materials, processes, and history.
- 4. **Attention Deficit Disorder (ADD):** A neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by trouble paying attention, excessive activity, or difficulty controlling behavior.
- 5. **Scoliosis:** A medical condition where a person's spine has a sideways curve.
- 6. **Conservation:** The protection, preservation, management, or restoration of natural environments and the ecological communities that inhabit them.
- 7. **Piping Plover:** A species of bird that is often a focus of conservation efforts due to its threatened status.
- 8. **Ecosystem:** A biological community of interacting organisms and their physical environment.
- 9. **Environmental Geologist:** A geologist who studies the interaction between humans and their environment, often focusing on issues like land use, water resources, and environmental impact.
- 10. **Aerial Photographs:** Photographs taken from an elevated position, often from an aircraft, used in environmental and geological studies.
- 11. **Pageantry:** The world of beauty contests and public entertainment, where individuals participate in competitions involving display and performance.
- 12. **STEM:** An acronym for science, technology, engineering, and mathematics, referring to these academic disciplines collectively.
- 13. **COVID-19 Pandemic:** The global outbreak of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) that began in 2019.
- 14. **Construction Industry:** The sector of the economy that focuses on constructing buildings, infrastructure, and other physical structures.
- 15. **Construction Management:** The planning, coordination, and control of a construction process from its inception to its completion.

LAB

SELINA WEBB

This chapter tells the inspiring story of a woman who was raised in Texas by parents who deeply valued education, overcame challenges, and made significant contributions to science and society. The chapter is a powerful testament to the importance of support, resilience, the role of mentors and role models in achieving academic and personal success, and perseverance in the face of challenges. It is an inspiring narrative for young girls aspiring to careers in STEM. The chapter also focuses on the importance of education, setting goals, and overcoming challenges and stereotypes. It also touches on issues of gender equality and the empowerment of young women in academic and professional settings. ЯA

Key Points:

- 1. **Family Support and Education:** Raised by parents who couldn't attend college, Selina and her four sisters were all supported to pursue higher education. This family support was pivotal in shaping her path.
- 2. **High School Activities and Discipline:** Engaging in various activities like the Academic Decathlon, sports, and clubs while maintaining high grades taught her discipline and provided a sense of belonging.
- 3. **Role of Mentors:** Teachers and coaches played crucial roles as role models, recognizing her drive and work ethic and helping her realize her potential.
- 4. **Overcoming Gender Bias:** She faced and overcame gender-based challenges, such as negative comments about her academic abilities, using these as motivation rather than deterrents.
- 5. **Importance of Goal-Setting:** Likening goal setting to sports, she emphasizes the importance of practice, focus, and avoiding negative influences.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

6. **Resilience in the Face of Failure:** Viewing failures as opportunities to learn and grow, she was able to maintain a positive outlook and build confidence.

8A

- 7. **Giving Back and Mentorship:** Her experience as an academic coordinator allowed her to guide and assist students, particularly those first in their families, to attend college, reinforcing the value of mentorship and giving back.
- 8. **Pursuing Teaching as a Purpose:** Her experiences and lessons learned led her to realize her purpose in life as a teacher, helping others achieve their academic goals.
- 9. **Embracing Uniqueness in STEM:** She encourages young girls to embrace their uniqueness, especially in male-dominated fields, seeing it as an opportunity to excel and fulfill their dreams.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **United States Academic Decathlon:** A multi-disciplinary team competition for high school students in the United States, focusing on various academic subjects.
- 2. Advanced Placement (AP) Courses: College-level courses and exams in various subjects are offered by high schools, allowing students to earn college credit.
- 3. **Grade Point Average (GPA):** A measure of a student's academic achievement at a college or university, calculated on a numerical scale.
- 4. **Goal Setting:** The process of identifying something that you want to accomplish and establishing measurable goals and timeframes.
- 5. **Work Ethic**: A belief in the moral benefit and importance of work and its inherent ability to strengthen character.
- 6. **Academic Coordinator:** A professional responsible for organizing and overseeing educational programs and academic activities.
- 7. **Scholarship:** A grant or payment made to support a student's education, awarded based on academic or other achievements.

8. **Master's Degree:** An academic degree awarded by universities or colleges upon completion of a course of study demonstrating mastery in a specific field of study or area of professional practice.

eN

- 9. **Gender Stereotypes:** Preconceived ideas whereby females and males are arbitrarily assigned characteristics and roles determined and limited by their gender.
- 10. **Empowerment:** The process of becoming stronger and more confident, especially in controlling one's life and claiming one's rights.

8AJ

 $(\boldsymbol{\varsigma})$







LAURIE HALLORAN

Laurie's book chapter narrates her journey from a small town with a longing for something greater to becoming a successful leader in clinical research. Fascinated by human biology and chemistry from a young age, Laurie initially pursued a nursing degree, driven by her family's expectations. However, her experiences in patient care left her feeling unfulfilled. Seeking a change, she moved to Boston, drawn by its rich history and vibrant energy. Her career took a pivotal turn when she transitioned from nursing to research, initially as a research nurse in a lead poisoning study. Her subsequent role as a Clinical Research Associate (CRA) perfectly aligned with her aspirations, allowing her to travel and contribute significantly to medical advancements, particularly in HIV/AIDS treatment. Laurie's entrepreneurial spirit later led her to establish her own company, leveraging her expertise to guide small businesses in clinical research. Her leadership is characterized by inclusivity, employee empowerment, and continuous learning. Beyond her professional achievements, Laurie gives back through initiatives like Project Onramp and a scholarship for women in leadership, exemplifying her commitment to mentorship and community development.

AA

Key Points:

- 1. **Early Interests in Science:** As a child, her interest in biology and chemistry was sparked by textbook images and a personal chemistry set, which provided a sense of ownership and identity.
- 2. **Role of Family and Gender Expectations:** Raised in a large family, she faced expectations to follow traditional female roles. Her parents' encouragement to pursue education was crucial, but societal norms influenced her initial career choices.
- 3. **Educational Journey:** Attending Russell Sage College for nursing, she struggled with the limitations of her environment and the constraints of living at home.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

4. **Realizing Nursing Wasn't Her Calling:** Her experiences in various nursing roles, including pediatric care and intensive care, led to the realization that she sought more intellectually stimulating work.

8A1

- 5. **Move to Boston and Career Transition:** Seeking independence and growth, she moved to Boston, initially continuing in nursing before transitioning to research.
- 6. **Entering Clinical Research:** She transitioned to a research nurse role in a lead poisoning study, gaining exposure to poverty and systemic issues. This led to a career as a Clinical Research Associate (CRA), where she played a crucial role in drug approval processes.
- 7. **Growth and Challenges in Clinical Research:** Her work in clinical research included significant contributions to HIV/AIDS medication development but also revealed limitations in companies' adherence to ethical research practices.
- 8. **Entrepreneurial Venture:** Frustrated with the lack of ethical rigor in some organizations, she founded her own company, focusing on ethical clinical research practices, and grew it successfully.
- 9. **Balancing Career and Personal Life:** She discusses the challenges of balancing a demanding career with family life, including the birth of her children.
- 10. Leadership and Continuous Learning: Emphasizing the importance of continuous learning, leadership skills, and team building, she shares her approach to business management and employee engagement.
- 11. **Importance of Flexibility and Adaptability:** Her journey underscores the importance of being open to changing career paths and learning from various experiences.

LAB

12. **Giving Back and Mentorship:** She actively engages in mentorship and creating opportunities for others through initiatives like Project Onramp and a scholarship program.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

- 1. **Pediatric Intensive Care Unit (PICU):** A hospital area specializing in the care of critically ill infants, children, and teenagers.
- 2. **Research Nurse:** A nurse who participates in scientific research, often in clinical settings, to improve healthcare practices.
- 3. **Environmental Protection Agency (EPA):** A U.S. government agency responsible for the protection of human health and the environment.
- 4. **Clinical Research Associate (CRA):** A healthcare professional who monitors the administration and progress of a clinical trial.
- 5. **Food and Drug Administration (FDA):** A U.S. government agency responsible for protecting public health by ensuring the safety and efficacy of drugs, biological products, and medical devices.
- 6. **Good Clinical Practice (GCP):** An international quality standard for designing, conducting, recording, and reporting trials that involve human subjects.
- 7. **Biotechnology:** A field that uses biological processes, organisms, or systems to develop or create different products.
- 8. **Clinical Study Protocol:** A document that describes the objective(s), design, methodology, statistical considerations, and organization of a clinical trial.
- 9. **Side Effects:** Side effects are unintended and sometimes harmful effects experienced from a medical treatment or therapy, which can vary in severity from minor to serious.
- 10. **Clinical Study Monitoring:** Clinical study monitoring is the process of overseeing the progress of a clinical trial to ensure it is conducted, recorded, and reported in accordance with the protocol, regulatory requirements, and good clinical practice.
- 11. **Lifelong Learner:** A lifelong learner is someone who actively pursues new knowledge, skills, and experiences throughout their entire life, both for personal and professional growth.
- 12. **Internship:** A period of work experience offered by an organization for a limited period of time, often to students or trainees.
- 13. **Project Onramp:** An initiative aimed at providing college students, especially those from underrepresented or economically

© Dawn Heimer 2023

disadvantaged backgrounds, with paid internships in the life sciences sector.

CN

5

8AJ

14.**Scholarship:** Financial support awarded to a student, based on academic or other achievements, to help pursue their education.

V

eN





Nikita's journey, as described in her book chapter, takes her from a fourthgrade student struggling with math to a Lead Quality Engineer in the medical devices field and illustrates the transformative power of education and selfbelief to achieve success. Overcoming her initial disdain for mathematics and changing her career aspiration from medicine to biomedical engineering, Nikita thrives in an interdisciplinary environment that blends medicine and engineering. Moving to the U.S. for her master's degree, she embraces new challenges and responsibilities, developing independence and resilience. Now, as a respected professional, Nikita leads a team of engineers, ensuring the safety and quality of medical devices, and exemplifies how stepping out of one's comfort zone can lead to personal growth and professional success. The chapter highlights overcoming obstacles, the unexpected paths one's career and interests can take, the role of determination, adaptability, and seizing opportunities in personal and professional growth. ØA

Key Points:

- 1. **Early Challenges with Math:** Nikita initially struggled with math, failing it in fourth grade and developing a fear of the subject. Despite tutors helping her pass, she remained uncomfortable with math and intended to avoid it by pursuing medicine.
- 2. **Change of Career Path:** Failing her medical entrance exams led her to explore engineering. She discovered biomedical engineering, blending her interest in medicine with engineering disciplines like mechanics, electronics, and calculus.
- 3. **Discovery and Success in Biomedical Engineering:** In her undergraduate studies, she excelled in engineering and was part of a team that developed a system for early detection of diabetic nervous system issues, finding her true passion.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

4. **Pursuing Higher Education Abroad:** Nikita moved to the United States for a master's degree in engineering, embracing independence and adapting to a new culture and environment. This move marked a significant shift in her life, both professionally and personally.

ЯA

- 5. **Gaining Independence and Skills:** Living in a new country, she learned to be self-sufficient, developing skills like cooking and driving and embracing a sense of responsibility for her future.
- 6. **Professional Growth:** While pursuing her master's, she worked as a quality engineer in a medical device company, balancing academic and professional responsibilities. This experience solidified her desire to specialize in quality control in the medical device industry.
- 7. **Leadership in Medical Device Quality Control:** Nikita's hard work led to her becoming a Lead Quality Engineer, where she plays a crucial role in ensuring the safety and quality of medical devices. Her expertise is now sought after by professionals in the field.
- 8. **Message to Young Girls:** Nikita's story emphasizes the importance of stepping out of one's comfort zone, embracing challenges, and being open to new possibilities. She encourages young girls not to fear subjects like math and science, as they can lead to fulfilling careers and significant contributions to society.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Engineering:** A branch of science and technology concerned with the design, building, and use of engines, machines, and structures.
- 2. **Biomedical Engineering:** A field that combines engineering principles with medical and biological sciences to design and create equipment, devices, computer systems, and software used in healthcare.
- 3. **Calculus:** A branch of mathematics that involves the study of rates of change and accumulation.
- 4. **Anatomy Laboratory:** A facility where the structure of living things, especially the human body, is studied, often involving dissection.

5. **Medical Technology:** The application of technology to improve the diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of diseases and other health conditions.

AA

- 6. **Nervous System:** The nervous system is your body's communication network, made up of the brain, spinal cord, and nerves, allowing you to think, move, and feel.
- 7. **Diabetes:** Diabetes is a medical condition where your body has trouble regulating blood sugar levels, leading to high or low blood sugar, and it requires careful management of diet, medication, or insulin.
- 8. **Expatriate:** An expatriate, often called an "expat" for short, is a person who lives in a country other than their native or home country, often for work or personal reasons.
- 9. **Master's Degree:** An advanced academic degree granted by universities, typically after completing a bachelor's degree.
- 10. **Quality Engineer:** A professional who ensures that products meet certain standards of quality, especially in the manufacturing process.
- 11. **Medical Device:** Any instrument, apparatus, implement, machine, appliance, implant, reagent for in vitro use, software, material, or other similar or related article intended for medical use.
- 12. **Lead Quality Engineer:** A professional role responsible for overseeing quality assurance and control in product development, particularly in industries like medical devices.
- 13. **STEM:** An acronym for science, technology, engineering, and mathematics, referring to these academic disciplines collectively.







This book chapter highlights Laura's journey as a female scientist who overcame an initial disinterest in science and societal expectations to become a successful and passionate university professor in earth sciences. The chapter emphasizes Laura's unique path in science, marked by overcoming gender biases, her commitment to teaching and community engagement, and her creative integration of art into scientific communication and education, showcasing the value of interdisciplinary approaches in STEAM fields. Her story highlights the importance of perseverance, self-confidence, and creativity in achieving success in STEM fields.

Key Points:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Early Influence:** Despite having no family background in science and lacking female scientist role models in media, Laura's interest in science was sparked by an encouraging female high school chemistry teacher.
- 2. **Overcoming Stereotypes and Discouragement:** In college, she faced discouragement from professors who doubted her commitment to her studies due to gender stereotypes. Despite this, her determination and belief in herself drove her to pursue a science degree.
- 3. **Educational Achievements:** She earned an undergraduate degree in geology and a PhD in marine geology and geophysics, overcoming societal expectations and academic hurdles.
- 4. **Professional Success:** As a university professor for over two decades, she has earned recognition for her teaching excellence and received research grants from NSF and EPA. Her work focuses on integrating emerging technologies into earth science education.
- Community Engagement: She actively engages with the community, speaking at various forums to inspire interest in science among people who may not typically be drawn to it.

- 6. **Balancing Life and Science:** Laura balances her scientific work with hobbies like attending basketball games, hiking, crocheting, and quilting, showcasing a well-rounded personality.
- 7. **STEAM Advocacy:** She creatively merges her scientific knowledge with her artistic hobbies. Examples include crocheting temperature data scarves and creating quilts that tell stories of environmental adaptation and resilience.
- 8. **Innovative Teaching Methods:** She uses her art to make scientific data more accessible and engaging to her students, challenging the traditional methods of data presentation.
- 9. **Encouragement of Interdisciplinary Approaches:** Her work exemplifies the blending of science with art, encouraging a broader and more inclusive understanding of what it means to be a scientist.
- 10. **Role Model and Inspiration:** Her journey and achievements serve as an inspiration, especially to young girls and women in science, advocating for self-belief and the pursuit of one's passions regardless of societal expectations.

LAB

Vocabulary and Concepts:

- 1. **Geology:** A scientific field that involves the study of the Earth, including its materials, processes, and history.
- 2. **Marine Geology and Geophysics:** Subfields of geology focusing on marine environments and the physical processes underlying the Earth's surface in these areas.
- 3. **Earth Sciences:** A broad term encompassing various sciences related to the Earth, such as geology, geography, oceanography, and atmospheric sciences.
- 4. National Science Foundation (NSF) and Environmental Protection Agency (EPA): U.S. government agencies that fund scientific research and environmental protection initiatives, respectively.
- 5. **STEAM:** An educational approach that integrates Science, Technology, Engineering, Arts, and Mathematics.

6. **Coastal Optimism:** Coastal optimism is an attitude or approach that focuses on finding positive solutions and actions to address challenges and issues related to coastal environments and climate change, promoting resilience and sustainable practices.

AA

- 7. **Pointe-Au-Chien Indian Tribe:** Native American community in Louisiana, known for its resilience in the face of environmental challenges and efforts to protect their cultural heritage and traditional lands.
- 8. **Iditarod Sled Dog Race:** This is a famous dog sledding competition in Alaska, where teams of sled dogs and mushers race across long distances, commemorating the historic "serum run" to deliver diphtheria antitoxin to Nome.
- 9. **Crocheted Temperature Data:** A creative way to represent scientific data, such as temperature records, using crochet, where different colors represent different temperatures or data points.
- 10. **Biosphere:** The global sum of all ecosystems, encompassing all living organisms and their relationships to each other and the environment.
- 11.**Coastal Louisiana:** An area known for its unique environmental challenges, including habitat loss, saltwater intrusion, and storm impacts.
- 12. **Stitching Hope for the Coast:** A project that uses quilting to tell stories about coastal resilience and environmental adaptation in Louisiana.
- 13. Endangered Species Act: A U.S. law aimed at protecting species at risk of extinction.

LAB



Michele's chapter traces her dynamic career in science and technology, beginning with her decision to study marine biology, driven by a love for science and the sea. Her journey with the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's Commissioned Officer Corps (NOAA Corps) saw her in various roles, from driving ships and conducting scuba diving missions to becoming the first female hurricane hunter pilot. Michele's career was characterized by a willingness to embrace new challenges and a shift from seeking adventure to making impactful contributions to science and technology. Retired from NOAA, she now runs her own business, continuing her commitment to science and mentoring the next generation. Her story highlights the importance of perseverance, adaptability, and continuous learning in a fulfilling career journey.

AA

Key Points:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Early Influences and Career Decisions:** Raised with a strong emphasis on education, she was encouraged by her high school teachers and her father to pursue challenging subjects. Initially uncertain about her career path, she chose to study marine biology due to her love for science and the ocean.
- 2. **College and Early Career:** At Texas A&M at Galveston, she engaged in sailing and formed valuable relationships with professors and students. Her criteria for her first job were travel opportunities and financial stability, leading her to explore various options.
- 3. **NOAA Corps Experience:** After initially being a backup candidate, she was eventually called to join the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's Commissioned Officer Corps. This opportunity allowed her to engage in diverse activities like ship operation, aircraft flying, and scuba diving.

4. **Overcoming Disappointment and Persistence:** Despite the initial disappointment of being a second-choice recruit, her persistence paid off when she was finally accepted into the NOAA Corps, marking the beginning of an adventurous and fulfilling career.

BA

- 5. **Diverse Roles and Achievements:** Her career with the NOAA Corps was rich with experiences. She served as a deck officer on a research vessel, became a working diver, and pursued a master's degree in Zoology. She also became NOAA's first female hurricane hunter pilot and led key divisions in the organization.
- 6. **Challenges and Growth:** Throughout her career, she often found herself in new roles, sometimes as the first woman to hold these positions. This required her to constantly step out of her comfort zone and learn on the job.
- 7. **Leadership and Impact:** Her leadership roles in various capacities, including in marine sanctuaries and NOAA's Aircraft Operations Division, allowed her to make significant contributions to environmental protection and scientific research.
- 8. **Advice and Reflections:** The chapter concludes with her reflections on the importance of responsibility, growth through pushing comfort boundaries, volunteering for new challenges, and the value of perseverance.
- 9. **Legacy and Continued Contribution:** After retiring, she started a business to assist companies and non-profits in research and public service. She emphasizes the importance of being a positive force and appreciating all experiences, positive or negative, for personal growth.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

1. **Marine Biology:** The scientific study of marine life and organisms in the sea. It's often associated with studying the ocean and the life forms that live in it.

- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's Commissioned Officer Corps (NOAA Corps): A federal uniformed service of men and women who operate NOAA's ships and aircraft and support the agency's environmental science and research missions.
- 3. **Deck Officer:** In maritime contexts, this refers to a person responsible for various aspects of operating a ship, including navigation, safety, and sometimes crew management.
- 4. **Commissioned Officer:** A commissioned officer is a high-ranking military leader who holds a rank conferred by a government authority, responsible for commanding troops and making important decisions in the armed forces.
- 5. **Commanding Officer:** A commanding officer is a senior military leader or officer in charge of a military unit or installation, responsible for its operations, discipline, and overall management.
- 6. **Long-Range Communications Equipment:** Long-range communications equipment refers to specialized devices and systems capable of transmitting messages or data over extended distances, often used in military, maritime, or remote communication applications.
- 7. **Estuary:** An estuary is a coastal area where freshwater from rivers and streams mixes with saltwater from the ocean, creating a unique and productive ecosystem with diverse plant and animal species.
- 8. **Bay:** A bay is a body of water partially enclosed by land, usually smaller than a gulf, providing shelter and a natural harbor for ships.
- 9. **Coastal Mapping Surveys:** Coastal mapping surveys involve collecting detailed geographic and environmental data along coastlines to create accurate maps and support various coastal management and planning activities.
- 10.**Satellite Verification Projects:** Satellite verification projects involve using satellite data to validate or confirm scientific observations and measurements, helping to improve our understanding of Earth's environment.
- 11. **Open Ocean:** The open ocean refers to the vast, deep-sea areas of the ocean that are far from the coastline, characterized by deep water and diverse marine life.
- 12. **Marine Ecosystem:** A marine ecosystem is a complex community of plants, animals, and microorganisms living in the ocean, interacting with each other and their environment.

LAB

13. **Offshore Seamount:** An offshore seamount is an underwater mountain rising from the ocean floor, often serving as a habitat for marine species and attracting fishing and scientific interest.

ЯA

50

- 14. **Research Vessel:** A ship or boat designed and equipped to carry out research at sea. These vessels support various types of marine research.
- 15. **Dive Master:** A professional diver who leads and supervises diving activities and assists instructors in teaching diving courses.
- 16. **Hawaiian Monk Seal and Sea Turtles:** Endangered species studied for conservation efforts. These marine animals are often the focus of biological and ecological research.
- 17. **Marine Sanctuaries:** Protected areas in oceans or large lakes, preserved for the conservation of aquatic wildlife and natural resources.
- 18. **Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary:** A federally protected marine area off the central coast of California, known for its diverse marine ecosystem.
- 19. **Hurricane Hunter Pilot:** Pilots who fly specially equipped aircraft into tropical storms and hurricanes to collect weather data.
- 20. **Gulfstream IV:** A type of jet aircraft used for various purposes, including atmospheric research.
- 21.NOAA's Aircraft Maintenance Branch and Aircraft Operations Division: These divisions are responsible for the maintenance and operational logistics of NOAA's aircraft fleet.
- 22. **Resilience:** The capacity to recover quickly from difficulties; a key trait for success in challenging fields.

LAB

SANDRA LOPEZ LEON

Sandra's chapter recounts her lifelong ambition to become a doctor, inspired by her personal medical challenges at birth and her family's medical background. Despite societal pressures, she was encouraged by her mother to pursue any career she desired, leading her to embrace a wide range of interests beyond traditional gender roles. Her passion for science deepened through interactions with her medical student brothers, ultimately guiding her to study medicine and specialize in neuropsychiatry and gene therapies. Sandra values the balance between her professional ambitions and family life, a lesson imparted by her mother. Her story is symbolized in a painting that reflects the vast potential of the human mind and the importance of forging one's own path, underscoring her belief in pursuing dreams and living life to the fullest. AA

Key Points:

- 1. **Early Inspiration:** She was inspired to become a doctor due to her own birth complications and her parents' stories, especially about the doctors who saved her life.
- 2. **Family Influence:** Her father, a doctor, and her mother, who aspired to be a doctor, greatly influenced her. Her mother's encouragement that there is no profession just for men or women motivated her to pursue medicine.
- 3. **Breaking Gender Norms:** She challenged gender norms by engaging in activities traditionally considered for boys, showing early signs of her determination and willingness to break barriers.
- 4. **Medical School Experience:** Her brothers, both medical students, became her mentors, further fueling her passion for medicine. Her time in medical school was crucial in developing her interest in the human body and its functioning.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

5. **Choosing a Specialty:** She was drawn to neuroscience and eventually pursued a PhD, combining her interests in medicine and research.

8A1

- 6. **Scientific Contributions:** As a scientist, she values the thrill of discovery and the potential to contribute significantly to human knowledge and health.
- 7. **Family and Balance:** Despite her career achievements, she places great importance on her family and believes in maintaining a balance between personal and professional life.
- 8. **Encouragement and Imagination:** The chapter ends with a description of a painting representing her journey and inspirations, emphasizing the interconnectedness of the universe, human brain, and DNA and encouraging young readers to dream big and write their own life stories.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

- 1. **Stethoscope:** A medical instrument used for listening to the sounds produced within the body, especially those that emanate from the heart and lungs.
- 2. **Psychology:** The scientific study of the human mind and its functions, especially those affecting behavior in a given context.
- 3. **International School:** A type of educational institution that promotes international education in an international environment, often by adopting a curriculum such as that of the International Baccalaureate.
- 4. **Medical School:** An educational institution, or part of such an institution, that teaches medicine and awards a professional degree to physicians and surgeons.
- 5. **Neuroscience:** The scientific study of the nervous system, including the brain, spinal cord, and networks of sensory nerve cells.
- 6. **PhD (Doctor of Philosophy):** The highest university degree that is conferred after a course of study by universities in most countries.
- 7. **Research:** The systematic investigation into and study of materials and sources in order to establish facts and reach new conclusions.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

8. **Polyglot:** A polyglot is a person who can speak or understand several languages, showing proficiency in multilingual communication.

ЯA

- 9. **Family First:** This value emphasizes the importance of prioritizing one's family and well-being above other commitments and responsibilities.
- 10. Eduardo Urbano Merino: A Mexican painter and sculptor born on October 8, 1975, known for his surrealistic and figurative painting style. His works, including the notable "Epilepsia, Dejando Atrás la Pesadilla," are exhibited internationally and are part of collections in over 16 countries.
- 11.**Genes:** Genes are the segments of DNA in our cells that contain instructions for building and maintaining our bodies and determining our traits and characteristics.
- 12. **Numerology:** Numerology is a belief system that assigns meaning and significance to numbers, often used for divination and interpreting the mystical or symbolic qualities of numbers.
- 13.**DNA (Deoxyribonucleic Acid):** A self-replicating material present in nearly all living organisms as the main constituent of chromosomes. It is the carrier of genetic information.
- 14. **Neuron:** A specialized cell transmitting nerve impulses; a nerve cell.
- 15. **Mayan Culture:** Refers to the culture of the Maya civilization, which was a Mesoamerican civilization known for its hieroglyphic script, art, architecture, mathematics, calendar, and astronomical system.
- 16. **Magic Square:** A square array of numbers arranged such that the sum of the numbers in any horizontal, vertical, or diagonal line is always the same.

LAB



Erin's chapter describes her evolution from a determined teenager in Detroit to a pioneering female vice president in the automotive industry. Influenced by her family's engineering background, Erin's early career was shaped by hands-on experiences in automotive design and turbocharger development. Despite facing gender-based challenges in a male-dominated field, she persevered and adapted, eventually embracing her identity and femininity. Her transition to working on electric cars marked a significant alignment with her environmental values. Erin's success, culminating in a leadership role, shatters stereotypes in engineering and serves as an inspiration for women in STEM, proving that skill and confidence can overcome traditional barriers in the automotive sector. Erin's journey underscores the importance of perseverance, self-belief, living your true self, and breaking gender norms in STEM fields. ÅÅ

Key Points:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Early Passion for Engineering:** Inspired by her family's background in engineering and her hometown's automotive legacy, she developed a strong interest in engineering and mathematics.
- 2. **Hands-On Experience:** Starting as a teenager, she gained real-world experience in automotive design, working on automatic transmissions and designing and testing diesel engines.
- 3. **Educational Background:** She graduated with a degree in mechanical engineering, which further solidified her career path.
- 4. **Innovations in Automotive Technology:** Her work involved developing turbochargers, contributing to more efficient and high-performance vehicle designs.

- 5. **Transition to Electric Cars:** Embracing her core values of environmental sustainability, she moved to a company that focused on electric cars, allowing her to innovate in car design and manufacturing.
- 6. **Challenges as a Female Engineer:** Initially, she faced intimidation being the only woman in a male-dominated field and struggled with being taken seriously, leading her to alter her appearance to fit in.
- 7. **Gaining Confidence:** Over time, as she demonstrated her capabilities through successful projects, she became more comfortable expressing her femininity and being true to herself in the workplace.
- 8. **Leadership and Recognition:** Her accomplishments led to her becoming the first female vice president in her company, managing thousands of car parts and large-scale deals.
- 9. **Breaking Gender Stereotypes:** Her success challenges traditional perceptions of engineers, paving the way for future generations of women in STEM fields.
- 10. **Impact on Society:** Through her work, she has significantly contributed to the advancement of automotive technology, particularly in the realm of electric vehicles, emphasizing the importance of clean and sustainable transportation solutions.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Automotive Design**: The profession involved in the development of the appearance and, to some extent, the ergonomics of motor vehicles.
- 2. **Automatic Transmissions**: A type of motor vehicle transmission that can automatically change gear ratios as the vehicle moves, freeing the driver from having to shift gears manually.
- 3. **Engineering Intern**: A student or trainee who works, sometimes without pay, at a trade or occupation in order to gain work experience in the field of engineering.

- 4. **Diesel Engines:** An internal combustion engine in which heat produced by the compression of air in the cylinder is used to ignite the fuel.
- 5. **Prototype Phases:** The stages in product development where an initial model or sample of a product is built to test a concept or process.
- 6. **Turbochargers:** A turbine-driven forced induction device that increases an internal combustion engine's efficiency and power output by forcing extra compressed air into the combustion chamber.
- 7. **Motor City:** Nickname for Detroit, Michigan, recognized for its pivotal role in the American automotive industry.
- 8. **3D Modeling:** The process of creating a mathematical representation of a three-dimensional object using specialized software.
- 9. **Mechanical Engineering:** A branch of engineering that applies engineering physics, mathematics, and materials science principles to design, analyze, manufacture, and maintain mechanical systems.
- 10. **"Figuratively and Literally":** Adverbs where "figuratively" means metaphorically or symbolically, and "literally" means exactly or without exaggeration.
- 11. **True Self:** A concept referring to an individual's authentic, core identity, distinct from roles, masks, or social personas.
- 12. **Electric Cars:** Automobiles that are propelled by one or more electric motors, using energy stored in rechargeable batteries.
- 13. **High-Volume Manufacturing:** A manufacturing process that produces large numbers of a product, often using assembly line technology.
- 14. **Supply Chain:** A system of organizations, people, activities, information, and resources involved in supplying a product or service to a consumer.
- 15. Femininity: The quality of being female; womanliness.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

- 16. **Global Automotive Suppliers:** Companies around the world that provide parts and components to automotive manufacturers.
- 17.**Supply Chain Management**: The management of the flow of goods and services, involving the movement and storage of raw materials, work-in-process inventory, and finished goods from the point of origin to the point of consumption.
- 18. **Vice President:** An executive position in a company or organization, typically ranking below the president or CEO, responsible for a specific department or multiple departments.

56

ROKELLE SUN

Rokelle's chapter describes her journey from being a young girl in China to becoming a successful real estate entrepreneur. Overcoming language and cultural barriers after moving to South Africa, she developed a diverse skill set and a passion for learning, which drove her to excel in various activities. Her career began in journalism but shifted significantly during the 2008 economic recession when she saw an opportunity in the real estate market and founded Greenland Funds. Rokelle's success in the field, marked by her strategic thinking and design sensibilities, allowed her to create innovative, eco-friendly homes. Her story highlights the importance of embracing change, taking calculated risks, and trusting oneself to navigate life's unpredictable paths toward fulfillment and success. Her story is a testament to transforming challenges into opportunities for growth and success. She emphasizes her resilience in the face of cultural and language barriers, her passion for learning and asking questions, pursuing diverse interests, and breaking gender norms in traditionally male-dominated fields. 8A

57

Key Points:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Early Life and Education:** Born to a professional athlete father and an engineer mother, she moved from China to Swaziland, South Africa, at nine. Despite language barriers and cultural differences, she excelled in math and science, leveraging her innate curiosity and resilience.
- 2. **Diverse Interests:** Embracing a wide array of activities from ballet to fencing, she challenged gender norms and gained confidence in maledominated spaces. Her diverse interests laid the groundwork for her adaptable and multifaceted approach to her career.
- 3. **Journey in Journalism:** After high school, she moved to California for college and began a career in journalism. She worked her way up in the industry, reporting on business and political news in various

international locations. Her reporting experience provided insights into global economic trends.

ØΑ

58

- 4. **Shift to Entrepreneurship:** Inspired by a news story about a clothing brand thriving in a recession, she ventured into real estate investment and development, founding Greenland Funds. Despite the economic downturn, she saw potential in the San Francisco Bay Area housing market.
- 5. **Real Estate Success:** She learned the intricacies of real estate through self-education and mentorship, developing skills in strategy, law, psychology, and negotiation. Her empathetic approach and analytical skills helped her excel in resolving disputes and acquiring properties.
- 6. **Artistic Integration:** Leveraging her artistic talent, she founded Prism Capital Partners, focusing on creating eco-friendly, design-forward homes. This venture combined her passion for art, nature, and real estate, showcasing her ability to integrate diverse interests into a successful business model.
- 7. **Perseverance and Risk-taking:** Throughout her career, she faced challenges and competition but learned to embrace risk and adapt to changes. Her journey exemplifies the importance of self-belief, hard work, and the willingness to explore new opportunities.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Mechanical Engineer:** A professional skilled in applying engineering principles for designing, building, and using machines.
- 2. **Swaziland, South Africa:** A reference to the country in Southern Africa, now officially known as the Kingdom of Eswatini.
- 3. **City Planning Departments:** Groups responsible for guiding the development of cities and towns through zoning, land use planning, and infrastructure development.
- 4. **Stakeholders:** Individuals or groups with an interest or concern in a business, project, or decision, often influencing or affected by the outcome.

5. **Neighborhood Associations:** Groups of residents who support or organize activities within a specific neighborhood to improve or maintain the quality of life.

ЯA

- 6. **Empathetic:** The ability to understand and share the feelings of another, showing sensitivity and compassion towards others' experiences.
- 7. **Design-forward:** An approach that prioritizes innovation, aesthetics, and functionality in the design of products, spaces, or systems.
- 8. **Contemporary Homes:** Modern homes using current architectural styles, technologies, and materials.
- 9. **Environmentally Conscious Communities:** Groups or societies that prioritize sustainability and environmental protection in their lifestyles, policies, and practices.
- 10. **Economic Recession:** A period of temporary economic decline during which trade and industrial activity are reduced.
- 11. **Real Estate Investment and Development:** The process of investing in and developing properties, including buying, renovating, and selling or leasing them.
- 12. **Entrepreneur:** A person who starts a business, taking on financial risks in the hope of profit.
- 13. Greenland Funds: Rokelle's real estate investment company.
- 14. **Real Estate Negotiation:** The process of discussing terms and conditions in real estate transactions to reach a mutually acceptable agreement.
- 15. **Prism Capital Partners:** Rokelle's second company focuses on building contemporary, eco-friendly homes.
- 16. **Contemporary Homes:** Modern homes that reflect current trends in architecture and design.
- 17. **Eco-Friendly Homes:** Environmentally sustainable houses designed to have minimal impact on the environment.
- 18. **Functional Homes:** Residences designed to maximize utility and efficiency in living spaces.



EMMA TOWLSON

Emma's chapter narrates her unforgettable experience of teaching mathematics in Alexandra, South Africa, during a tumultuous period of strikes that shut down schools and public services. As a university student from England, part of an initiative to enhance mathematics education in Africa, she found herself amidst a strike that disrupted their planned teaching. Undeterred, Emma and her team devised a bold plan to relocate their teaching to a local community center, transforming it into a makeshift school. They worked tirelessly, setting up and packing daily, adapting to the unpredictable situation, and teaching hundreds of students amidst the chaos. Emma's story is a testament to the power of dedication, adaptability, and the profound impact of education in challenging circumstances. Her journey highlights the importance of overcoming personal fears, like public speaking, and the role of connecting theory with real-world teaching in applications. This transformative experience not only aided hundreds of students in their crucial exams but also significantly shaped Emma's outlook, reinforcing the value of education and community collaboration in societal advancement. Overall, the chapter highlights the crucial role of women in science and education, showcasing how cross-cultural exchanges, innovative thinking, and a commitment to education can overcome significant challenges and make a lasting impact on society.

AA

60

Key Points:

LAB

- 1. **Cross-Cultural Educational Exchange:** The students participated in an initiative aiming to improve mathematics education in Africa, highlighting the importance of a two-way educational exchange between Africa and the UK.
- Preparation and Challenges: The students underwent extensive teacher training before their journey. However, they faced unforeseen challenges, including a massive public sector strike in South Africa, leading to the closure of schools and disruption of their teaching plans.

3. **Innovative Problem-Solving:** In response to the strike, the teachers innovatively set up a 'pop-up school' in a local community center in Alexandra. They overcame logistical hurdles, ensuring continuity in education for over 300 South African learners preparing for crucial exams.

8AJ

- 4. **Impact on Learners and Community:** The initiative significantly impacted the local learners, providing them with uninterrupted education during a critical period. The dedication and resourcefulness of the students created a positive learning environment, fostering deep engagement and commitment from the local learners.
- 5. **Personal Growth and Overcoming Fear:** Emma, who initially feared public speaking, found that facing this fear through teaching was an effective strategy. This experience not only helped her conquer personal fears but also deepened her connection to real-world issues and mathematics.
- 6. **Broader Societal Impact:** The initiative exemplified the transformative power of education. Emma recounts meeting a former participant of a similar program who, through education, uplifted his family from poverty, illustrating the far-reaching impact of such educational efforts.
- 7. **Collective Responsibility and Empowerment:** The chapter underscores the importance of collective responsibility in education and empowerment. Emma emphasizes that privilege comes with the responsibility to create opportunities for others.
- 8. **Strength in Unity:** The chapter concludes with a powerful message about the strength found in unity and cooperation. The experience in Alexandra serves as a testament to what can be achieved through passion, determination, and collaborative effort.

LAB

Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

1. **Alexandra:** A township near Johannesburg, South Africa, often known for challenging socioeconomic conditions.

ЯA

- 2. **Xhosa:** A Bantu language spoken by the Xhosa people, primarily in South Africa, known for its distinctive click consonants. Bantu are a large group of indigenous peoples spread across central, eastern, and southern Africa.
- 3. **Afrikaan:** West Germanic language derived from Dutch, spoken in South Africa and Namibia, originating from the Dutch settlers in the 17th century.
- 4. **Empower:** To give someone the authority or power to do something or to make someone stronger and more confident, especially in controlling their life and claiming their rights.
- 5. **Mathematics Education in Africa:** Refers to efforts to improve the quality of math education on the African continent, often through international collaboration and teacher exchange programs.
- 6. **University Students' Initiative:** Indicates a program involving university students actively participating in educational projects abroad.
- 7. **Teacher Exchange Program:** A program where teachers from different countries or regions swap places to learn and share teaching methodologies and experiences.
- 8. **Public Sector Strike:** A collective action by employees of government agencies, in this case in South Africa, protesting against new laws affecting their salaries.
- 9. **Matrics (Matriculation Exams):** Refers to the final year exams in South African schools, which are crucial for university admissions and career opportunities.
- 10.**Community Center in Alexandra:** Used as a neutral ground for teaching during the strike, suggesting its accessibility and safety for such activities.
- 11. **Pop-Up School:** An improvised, temporary educational setup created to continue teaching during the strike.
- 12. **Teaching Creativity and Adaptability:** Highlighting the need for innovative and flexible teaching approaches in challenging situations.
- 13. **Collaboration with Local University:** Indicates partnership with a local university in Johannesburg for logistical support and guidance.

14. **Global Education and Empowerment:** The broader theme of providing education as a means of empowerment, particularly in less privileged communities.

eN

5

8AJ

- 15. **Fundraising for Educational Initiatives:** Efforts to raise funds to support ongoing and future educational projects.
- 16.**Impact of Educational Programs:** The lasting effect of educational initiatives on individuals and communities, exemplified by the success story of a former program participant now thriving professionally.



DARCY GAGNE

Darcy recounts her journey from a nine-year-old with a dream of being a "scientist" to a successful professional in veterinary medicine and research. Inspired by her love for animals and anatomy, she initially aspired to become a veterinarian. Volunteering at a veterinary clinic, she discovered her passion for surgery and animal care. Despite her apprehension about large universities, she pursued a college education, expanding her knowledge and skills in animal caretaking. After becoming a certified veterinary technician, Darcy's career took a turn towards research, where she thrived as a research technician in a contract laboratory. Here, she embraced opportunities to assist in animal surgeries, eventually aspiring to become a primary surgeon and then moving into a pivotal role in medical device development at one of the largest biotechnology companies in the US. Balancing family life and education, she pursued and completed her bachelor's degree and is now pursuing her PhD and overcoming challenges. Darcy's story is a testament to following one's passion, overcoming obstacles, and the importance of continuous learning and adaptability in carving out a successful career path.

8A

Key Points:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Early Interest in Science:** Darcy's interest in science and animals began in childhood. She was fascinated by anatomy and curious about the workings of the natural world.
- 2. **Journey to Veterinary Science:** Initially aiming to become a veterinarian, she volunteered at a veterinary clinic in high school and pursued a college degree related to animal care, expanding her skills in animal handling and medical procedures.
- 3. **Shift to Research:** Despite her passion for veterinary science, she transitioned to a research role in a laboratory. This shift was driven by a desire for more responsibility and better financial prospects.

- 4. **Growth in the Research Field:** In her new role, she quickly excelled, learning surgical techniques and working on a variety of medical devices. She interacted with engineers and played a significant role in refining prototypes for medical devices.
- 5. **Challenges and Persistence:** She faced challenges, including balancing work, family, and further education. Despite these, she persevered, demonstrating resilience and determination.
- 6. **Impact on Medical Device Research:** Her contributions to medical device research were significant, improving veterinary and human medical practices.
- 7. **Mentorship and Continuous Learning:** She values mentorship, having had a great mentor herself. She pays it forward by teaching and guiding others in animal science and research.
- 8. **Decision Against Becoming a Veterinarian:** Despite her initial goal, she chose not to become a veterinarian due to practical reasons. Instead, she pursued a master's degree and continued to excel in her field.
- 9. **Empowerment and Inspiration:** Her story is one of empowerment, inspiring readers to follow their passions, adapt to changes, and remain open to new opportunities.
- 10. **Message to Readers:** The key message is that it's never too late to pursue dreams, and it's okay to change course if needed. Emphasis is placed on the importance of continuous learning, resilience, and taking risks to achieve success.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

- 1. Veterinarian: A professional animal doctor.
- 2. **Anatomy:** The branch of science concerned with the bodily structure of humans, animals, and other living organisms.
- 3. Research Technician: A role in a laboratory setting where

© Dawn Heimer 2023
- 4. **Contract Laboratory (Lab for Hire):** A laboratory that conducts studies for other companies.
- 5. **Veterinary Technician:** A professional trained in assisting veterinarians.
- 6. **Medical Devices:** Instruments or implants used in medical treatment.
- 7. **Astute:** Someone who has the ability to accurately assess situations or people and turn this to their advantage, showing sharpness of mind.
- 8. **Organs:** Structures made up of tissues that perform specific functions within the body of a living organism.
- 9. **Caretaking:** Looking after or providing care for someone or something, maintaining or overseeing the well-being of others.
- 10.**Treatment Plan:** Detailed plan specific for an individual patient, showing the strategy for treating a health issue, including therapies, medications, and follow-up care.
- 11. **Prototype Medical Devices:** Early samples, models, or releases of a medical device used to test a concept or process, typically developed as part of the design and development process.
- 12. **"Pay it forward":** A concept involving doing a good deed for others without expecting anything in return, with the hope that the recipient will, in turn, do a good deed for someone else, creating a chain of kindness.
- 13. **Surgical Incisions:** Cuts made into the tissue during surgery.
- 14. **PhD (Doctor of Philosophy):** The highest university degree in many fields, representing advanced research skills and knowledge.
- 15. **Mentor:** A person who provides guidance and support, particularly in academic and professional contexts.
- 16. **Veterinary Science and Research:** Fields that involve the study and practice of animal health and medicine.
- 17. **Professional Growth and Development:** The process of gaining skills and experience in one's career.
- 18. **Empowerment and Independence:** Key themes in Darcy's journey as she navigates her career and personal growth.
- 19. **Risk-taking and Adaptability:** The willingness to take chances and adapt to changing circumstances, which played a crucial role in Darcy's career development.

66

LAB

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LATHA PARVATANENI

Latha's chapter narrates her journey, shaped by the inspiring resilience and ambition of her parents, who migrated from Sri Lanka to the UK. Growing up with a strong emphasis on education and family values, she developed a deep interest in biology and a desire to become a veterinarian. However, her career path took a turn towards human medicine, driven by her persistent nature and a challenge from a tutor who doubted her aspirations. Her medical training was arduous yet rewarding, leading her to specialize in anesthesiology. Despite initial struggles with exams, her career pivoted to clinical research, where she found her passion in working on new medications, including treatments for arthritis and a vaccine for cervical cancer. Latha's personal challenge with breast cancer profoundly impacted her perspective as a doctor, patient, and mother, teaching her the importance of empathy, resilience, and self-care. Her journey also highlights the significance of continuous learning, as she pursued an MBA while managing her business. Latha's story is a testament to adaptability, perseverance, and the power of strong role models in shaping a fulfilling career and life.

ЯA

Key Points:

- 1. **Early Influence and Immigration:** Her parents, ethnic minorities from Sri Lanka, immigrated to the UK seeking better opportunities. Her mother, an educated and professional woman, significantly influenced her by balancing work and family life.
- 2. **Cultural and Educational Background:** Growing up in a culturally rich environment, she was encouraged to pursue education, particularly in science. Her interest in biology and veterinary science was evident from a young age.
- 3. **Overcoming Gender Stereotypes:** She faced discouragement, notably being told that "women don't study medicine," which only strengthened her resolve to pursue a medical career.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

4. **Medical Training and Challenges:** Her medical training was rigorous and demanding. Despite initial setbacks in anesthesiology, she found her passion in clinical research.

8AJ

- 5. **Shift to Pharmaceutical Industry:** Disheartened by the limited impact in clinical settings, she moved to the pharmaceutical industry to work on meaningful projects, including arthritis medication and cervical cancer vaccines.
- 6. **Personal Health Crisis:** Diagnosed with Stage 3 breast cancer, she underwent a transformative experience, shifting from a healthcare provider to a patient, which gave her a new perspective on patient care and empathy.
- 7. **Career Advancements and MBA:** She pursued further education, completing an MBA while emphasizing the importance of adaptability and perseverance in STEM careers.
- 8. **Advocacy and Mentorship:** Inspired by her mentor's advice to "pay it forward," she became a mentor herself, sharing her knowledge and experience in research and animal science.
- 9. **Family and Work-Life Balance:** She highlights the importance of family support and balancing professional commitments with personal life.
- 10. **Message for Aspiring STEM Leaders:** She encourages perseverance, adaptability, and continuous learning, emphasizing the importance of having role models and maintaining one's values amidst challenges.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

- 1. **Sri Lanka:** An island country in South Asia known for its ancient Buddhist ruins, lush landscapes, and diverse culture.
- 2. **Extended Family:** A family unit that extends beyond the nuclear family, including relatives such as aunts, uncles, and cousins.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 3. **Mentor:** A person who provides guidance and support, particularly in academic and professional contexts.
- 4. **Ethnic Minorities:** Groups that are different from most of the population based on cultural, national, racial, or religious factors.
- 5. **Civil and Mechanical Engineer:** Professions involving the design, construction, and maintenance of structures or machinery.
- 6. **Accountant:** A professional who manages financial records and audits.
- 7. **Healthcare Professionals:** People trained to provide preventive, curative, promotional, or rehabilitative healthcare to people, families, or communities.
- 8. **Stage 3 Breast Cancer:** Advanced form of breast cancer where the cancer has extended beyond the immediate area of the tumor and may have invaded nearby lymph nodes and muscles but has not spread to distant organs.
- 9. **Physiotherapists:** Healthcare professionals who use physical methods, such as exercise, massage, and manipulation, to promote healing and well-being.
- 10. **Acupuncture Treatment:** A form of traditional Chinese medicine that involves inserting thin needles into specific points on the body to relieve pain and treat various health conditions.
- 11. **Drama Therapist:** A professional who uses drama and theater processes, including role-play, storytelling, and performance, to facilitate psychological growth and change.
- 12. **Dissection:** Cutting into a body to study its internal parts.
- 13. Veterinarian: A professional animal doctor.
- 14. **Medical Training:** Education and training required to become a medical doctor.
- 15. **Anesthesiology:** The branch of medicine concerned with anesthesia and anesthetics.
- 16. **Clinical Research:** Research conducted with human subjects or materials of human origin for medical purposes.
- 17. **Pharmaceutical Industry:** Companies that develop, produce, and market drugs or pharmaceuticals.
- 18. **Epilepsy:** A neurological disorder marked by sudden recurrent episodes of sensory disturbance, loss of consciousness, or convulsions.
- 19. **Mastectomy:** Surgical removal of breast tissue. Latha underwent this surgery as part of her cancer treatment.
- 20. Lymph Nodes: Small glands that filter lymph, the fluid that circulates throughout the lymphatic system.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

21. **Chemotherapy:** The treatment of disease, especially cancer, using chemicals.

V

eN

 $(\mathcal{S}$

8AJ

- 22. **Mammogram:** An x-ray of the breast used to detect and diagnose breast cancer.
- 23. **Master's in Business Administration (MBA):** A graduate degree focused on business and management.



ELSA SALAZAR CADE

Elsa's story is a testament to overcoming cultural norms and making significant scientific contributions. Growing up in San Antonio in the 1950s, she was deeply influenced by her father's craftsmanship and her Nana's traditional healing practices. Despite societal expectations limiting girls' engagement in science, Elsa's curiosity about nature and insects thrived. Her educational journey, altered by her father's rejection of her Stanford University scholarship, led her to a local university and eventually to a pioneering teaching career in Buffalo, New York, where she innovated inclusive, hands-on science education. Another defining moment in her career was when she and her husband discovered a unique fly species with a single ear in its thorax, a groundbreaking find that advanced both entomology and hearing aid technology. Elsa's journey, marked by overcoming barriers and embracing her passion for science, serves as an inspiring example of challenging conventions and achieving extraordinary feats in scientific exploration.

ЯA

Key Points:

- 1. **Early Influences:** Elsa's interest in science and nature was influenced by her family, especially her father, a master craftsman, and her grandmother, a herbista. Her mother's love for nature also played a crucial role.
- 2. **Education and Challenges:** She faced educational challenges due to her ethnicity and gender, including being placed in a special education class despite her intelligence. However, her curiosity and love for learning, particularly about insects and nature, remained undiminished.
- 3. **Passion for Science and Nature:** Her childhood activities, like observing insects and exploring the natural world, reflected her growing passion for science and nature. She was especially interested in biology and entomology.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

4. **Breaking Gender Norms:** Despite societal norms of the time, she pursued interests typically reserved for boys, like science. She was overlooked for her scientific interests because she was a girl, highlighting the gender biases of that era.

8A1

- 5. **Academic Journey:** She attended St. Mary's University, close to home, due to family restrictions. Her marriage to Dr. Bill Cade led her to further her experiences in entomology.
- 6. **Research Contributions:** Her work included significant contributions to entomology, such as, along with her husband, discovering a parasite that locates its prey by sound. This research had practical applications, such as improving hearing aids.
- 7. **Career in Education:** She pursued a career in teaching, specializing in science and Spanish, and significantly contributed to inclusive education by integrating special needs students into her science classes. Her methods emphasized hands-on, experiential learning.
- 8. **Global Experiences:** Her passion for entomology took her on research trips around the world, including Australia and Africa, enriching her teaching with diverse experiences.
- 9. **Advocacy for Inclusive Education:** She was a pioneer in including students with disabilities in mainstream science classes, leading to a groundbreaking project and research paper on the subject.
- 10. **Lifelong Learning and Teaching:** Her journey reflects a commitment to lifelong learning, teaching, and sharing her passion for science with students of diverse backgrounds and abilities.
- 11.**Inclusive Education:** Her work in integrating special education students into mainstream science classes paved the way for more inclusive educational practices.

LAB

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 12. **Research Contributions:** Her research in entomology contributed to practical applications in medical technology, particularly in improving hearing aids.
- 13. **Inspiration:** Her story serves as an inspiration, especially for girls and women in STEM, demonstrating the importance of following one's passion despite societal barriers.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

- 1. Bilingual: Being fluent in two languages.
- 2. Master Craftsman: A person highly skilled in a craft.
- 3. Herbalista: A traditional healer who uses herbs and natural remedies.
- 4. **Bookmobile:** A mobile library service. The narrator used the bookmobile to learn about nature and animals.
- 5. **Sputnik:** The first human-made satellite to orbit the Earth, launched by the Soviet Union. Its launch sparked the narrator's interest in science.
- 6. **Entomology:** The scientific study of insects.
- 7. **Harvester Ant:** Any species of ants known for collecting seeds as their primary food source, playing significant roles in their ecosystems by influencing soil properties and seed dispersal.
- 8. **Cicada:** An insect known for its distinctive sound, produced by males to attract females, with some species emerging en masse every 17 or 13 years.
- 9. **Ant-Lions:** The larval stage of insects in the Myrmeleontidae family, known for creating funnel-shaped pits to trap ants or other prey.
- 10. **Intertropical Convergence Zone (ITCZ):** A belt of low pressure that circles the Earth near the Equator, where the trade winds of the Northern and Southern Hemispheres come together, known for its stormy weather.
- 11. **Ormia ochracea:** A species of parasitic fly known for its remarkable ability to locate its cricket hosts by sound, with females laying their eggs on or near the crickets.
- 12. **Katydids:** Insects related to grasshoppers and crickets, known for their green color and leaf-like appearance, and the sounds males produce to attract females.
- 13. **Baobab Tree:** An iconic tree of the African savannah, known for its massive trunk and long lifespan, providing habitat, food, and water storage for various species and humans.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

14. **Special Education:** Education tailored to students with specific learning needs.

eN

 $(\boldsymbol{\varsigma})$

8AJ

- 15. **Orthopterists' Society:** A group focusing on the study of orthopteran insects, such as grasshoppers and crickets.
- 16. **Experiential Learning:** Hands-on learning through direct experience.
- 17. **Ovipositor**: A tube-like organ used by some female insects for laying eggs.



CANDICE HUGHES

Candice's journey into the world of science began in the fourth grade with a fossil that sparked her curiosity and led her to pursue neurobiology. Despite financial challenges following her parents' divorce and the need to self-fund her education, she persevered. With her grandparents' support and through jobs and loans, she completed her undergraduate studies and impressively earned a spot in a neuroscience graduate program with a full research grant. Her role as a teaching assistant honed her ability to simplify complex information, a skill that later proved invaluable. Post-graduation, she transitioned from teaching to a startup in biopharmaceuticals, leveraging her scientific expertise in a business context. Candice eventually ventured into medical communications, creating educational materials for healthcare professionals. Her career took another turn when she launched her own biopharmaceutical companies. company, advising The pivot to entrepreneurship brought new challenges and learnings, particularly in the digital health space, where she developed a game to aid children with Attention Deficit Disorder. Candice's story is one of resilience and adaptability, showcasing her journey from a young science enthusiast to a successful entrepreneur, continuously learning and evolving in her professional life.

AA

75

Key Points:

LAB

- 1. **Early Interest in Science:** Her interest in science, particularly neurobiology, started in her childhood, sparked by a fossil in fourth grade and a keen interest in schizophrenia by fifth and sixth grade.
- 2. **Overcoming Financial Challenges:** Despite financial challenges due to her parents' divorce and the need to self-finance her education, she managed to pursue her scientific studies with the help of her grandparents, student loans, and a job.
- 3. **Graduate Education:** She was accepted into a neuroscience program where her education and living expenses were covered by her

© Dawn Heimer 2023

professor's research grant. Her role as a teaching assistant helped her master the skill of simplifying complex information.

- 4. **Frugality and Hard Work:** Her experiences taught her the importance of frugality and hard work, shaping her into a careful and creative money manager.
- 5. **Career Path:** After earning her PhD, she taught college classes, then transitioned to a startup in New York City, where she combined her love for biopharmaceuticals and healthcare.
- 6. **Mentoring and Leadership:** In her roles, she focused on mentoring her team, leveraging their strengths, and balancing individual development with achieving goals.
- 7. **Transition to Medical Communications:** She found a niche in medical communications, creating training programs for healthcare professionals and working with top physicians and companies.
- 8. **Entrepreneurial Ventures:** Eventually, she launched her own company in digital health, creating educational games for kids with Attention Deficit Disorder and working with various biopharmaceutical companies.
- 9. **Challenges and Successes:** She faced numerous challenges as an entrepreneur, particularly in raising funds and being taken seriously in a male-dominated industry. Her successes in this field led to recognition and awards.
- 10. **Future Goals:** Looking forward, she aims to grow startups, assist women-led startups, and possibly join boards of directors to influence business growth and success.
- 11. **Personal Philosophy:** Her journey reflects a philosophy of being strong yet flexible, willing to take risks, and persevering through challenges to achieve success.

© Dawn Heimer 2023



- 1. **Neurobiology:** The study of the nervous system, including the brain.
- 2. **Schizophrenia:** A mental disorder characterized by distorted thinking and perceptions.

AA

- 3. **Research Grant:** Funding provided to researchers for scientific studies, often without the requirement of repayment.
- 4. **Teaching Assistant (TA):** A graduate student who assists in teaching undergraduate courses, often in exchange for a stipend or tuition waiver.
- 5. **Biopharmaceuticals:** Medications made using biological sources, like living cells or organisms, often used in modern medicine.
- 6. **FDA (Food and Drug Administration):** The U.S. federal agency responsible for regulating food, drugs, medical devices, and other health-related products.
- 7. **Digital Health:** The use of digital technologies in healthcare, including data management, mobile health applications, and personalized medicine.
- 8. **Attention Deficit Disorder (ADD):** A neurological disorder characterized by difficulty in maintaining attention, impulsivity, and hyperactivity.
- 9. **Entrepreneur:** An individual who starts and runs a business, taking on financial risks in the hope of profit.
- 10.**Pitch Deck:** A presentation used by entrepreneurs to pitch their business ideas to potential investors.
- 11.**Start-up Accelerator:** A program that supports early-stage, growthdriven companies through education, mentorship, and financing.



ADRIANA L. ROMERO-OLIVARES

Adriana's story begins in a traditional Mexican family, where the concept of becoming a scientist seemed like a distant, male-dominated dream. Her childhood, marked by outdoor adventures with her father, ignited her passion for the environment. Despite her family's initial skepticism and pressure to pursue conventional careers, Adriana was drawn to biology. Facing challenges like living far from home and with financial constraints, she persevered through her undergraduate and graduate studies, ultimately earning a PhD in molecular and microbiology. Breaking away from societal expectations, Adriana became the first scientist in her family, embodying the roles of a scientist, activist, and teacher. Her journey challenges stereotypes, proving that scientists can come from diverse backgrounds and emphasizing the importance of following one's passion against all odds. AA

Key Points:

- 1. **Background and Early Influences:** She grew up in a working-class Mexican family where the concept of a science career, especially for women, was almost non-existent. Her interest in science, particularly ecology and evolutionary biology, was sparked by her childhood experiences with her father and nature.
- 2. **Challenges of Gender and Cultural Norms:** She faced cultural expectations about what it meant to be "lady-like" and struggled with her family's limited understanding of science careers. Her strong personality and interests didn't align with traditional gender norms.
- 3. **Pursuing Science Against Odds:** Despite the lack of role models in science within her immediate environment, she was determined to pursue her passion for the environment. Her journey to study biology was marked by resistance from her family and the challenge of moving far from home for college.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 4. Academic Path and Finding Direction: Initially unsure of how to apply a biology degree towards environmental protection, she found inspiration in her professors. Their diverse roles as activists, teachers, and policymakers influenced her to become a professor.
- 5. **Career Development:** With the encouragement of mentors and her own determination, she pursued a master's and then a PhD, becoming the first scientist in her family. Her journey was marked by both internal doubts and external challenges.
- 6. **Impact as a Scientist, Activist, and Teacher:** She now works to protect the environment, make science accessible to all, and challenge the stereotype that science is a field reserved for privileged individuals or men.
- 7. **Embracing Her Identity:** She emphasizes the importance of being true to oneself, regardless of societal expectations. Her story highlights how traits, once criticized, can become strengths in the right context.
- 8. **Message of Empowerment:** She encourages others, especially those who do not fit the traditional mold of a scientist, to be unstoppable in pursuit of their dreams. Her narrative is a testament to resilience, passion, and the power of breaking barriers.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Ecology:** The study of interactions among organisms and their environment.
- 2. **Evolutionary Biology:** A field of biology that studies the evolutionary processes that produced the diversity of life on Earth.
- 3. Abuela: Spanish word for grandmother.
- 4. Ultimatum: A final demand or statement of terms.
- 5. Activist: Someone who campaigns for social or political change.
- 6. **Molecular and Microbiology:** Branches of biology. Molecular biology deals with the molecular basis of biological activity, while microbiology is the study of microorganisms.

7. **PhD (Doctor of Philosophy):** The highest university degree in many fields, representing advanced research skills and knowledge.

ЯA

80

- 8. **Research:** Systematic investigation into and study of materials and sources to establish facts and reach new conclusions.
- 9. **Scientist:** A person engaging in a systematic activity to acquire knowledge that describes and predicts the natural world.
- 10. **Activist:** An individual who campaigns for social or political change, particularly in areas like environmental protection.
- 11. **Professor:** An academic and teacher of the highest rank in a college or university.
- 12. **Mentor:** A person who provides guidance and support, particularly in academic and professional contexts.
- 13. **Agricultural Engineer:** A professional who applies engineering principles to agriculture.
- 14. **Biology:** The scientific study of life and living organisms.

LAB

© Dawn Heimer 2023

15. **Biopharmaceuticals:** A class of drugs produced using biotechnology, which includes proteins, nucleic acids, or living cells and tissues.

CHARLOTTE SIBLEY

Charlotte shares her journey from a fascination with math and science in her youth to a pioneering executive in the pharmaceutical industry. Initially inclined towards languages, her career took a turn when she interned as a research analyst at a bank, which kindled her interest in business. This led her to earn an MBA from the University of Chicago, challenging the gender norms of the time. Her trailblazing spirit was further evidenced at Pfizer, where she established the pharmaceutical industry's first competitive intelligence department. Despite facing a significant career challenge at Bristol-Myers Squibb, which resulted in her losing her job over a disagreement on a business forecast, Charlotte's resilience and business philosophy of persistence, integrity, and maintaining a balance between being liked and respected guided her through. She continues to influence the pharmaceutical world, serving on boards and mentoring professionals, showcasing her commitment to innovation and ethical leadership in the industry. AA

Key Points:

- 1. **Early Interest in Science and Math:** Charlotte's interest in science and math was sparked at a young age. Her sixth-grade teacher introduced her to advanced algebra, and in eighth grade, her science teacher, Miss Leavitt, played a crucial role in encouraging her not to fear science and math.
- 2. **Challenges in Pursuing Science:** Despite her talent and interest, societal norms and personal challenges (like monocular vision) steered her away from a career directly in science. During her time, girls were often encouraged to pursue careers in nursing, teaching, or as flight attendants.
- 3. **Shift to Languages and Business:** Excelling in languages, she initially majored in French literature with plans to become a university professor. However, an opportunity at the United States Trust Company

© Dawn Heimer 2023

of New York shifted her path toward business, leading to her eventual enrollment in an MBA program at the University of Chicago.

- 4. **Career Progression:** Her career journey took her from being a market research analyst at Pfizer, where she worked on drugs to treat schizophrenia, to Wall Street as a drug industry analyst, then to consumer-packaged goods market research, and eventually back to the science and healthcare world at Johnson & Johnson.
- 5. **Overcoming Gender Bias and Professional Challenges:** Throughout her career, she faced gender bias, being the only or first woman in various roles. She learned valuable lessons about data analysis, communication, and developing future recommendations.
- 6. **Leadership and Management Roles:** She eventually took on significant leadership roles. Her resilience and ability to adapt played a crucial role in navigating through corporate mergers and shifts in industry trends.
- 7. **Persistence and Resilience:** Her resilience was tested when she was unexpectedly fired, but she bounced back and landed a dream job at Pharmacia, leading global analytics, research, insights, and forecasting groups.
- 8. **Making a Difference:** Charlotte's career highlights her dedication to making a difference in patients' lives and in the industry. She continues to serve on the boards of life science companies and mentors many people, emphasizing the importance of PRIDE (Persistence, Resilience, Integrity, Do Good Work, and Energy) in her professional journey.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

- 1. **Algebra:** A branch of mathematics dealing with symbols and the rules for manipulating those symbols.
- 2. **Monocular Vision:** A condition where one eye is significantly stronger than the other, affecting depth perception and other aspects of vision.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 3. Advanced Placement (AP) Courses: College-level courses offered in high school that can lead to college credit.
- 4. **Master's Degree in Biology:** A graduate-level degree focusing on the study of living organisms.
- 5. **MBA (Master of Business Administration):** A graduate degree focusing on business and management.
- 6. **Market Research Analyst:** A professional who studies market conditions to examine potential sales of a product or service.
- 7. **Pharmaceutical Industry:** A sector of the healthcare industry that deals with the development, production, and marketing of medications.
- 8. **Managed Care:** A healthcare system where patients have limited choices of doctors and treatments, often to control costs.
- 9. **Efficacy:** The ability to produce a desired or intended result, often used in the context of pharmaceuticals.
- 10. **Consumer-Packaged Goods:** Products that are used daily by average consumers and that require routine replacement or replenishment.
- 11. **Physicians' Desk Reference (PDR):** A reference book that summarizes information about medications and is commonly used by healthcare professionals.
- 12. **Competitive Intelligence:** The practice of collecting and analyzing information about competitors in the business world.
- 13. **Direct-to-consumer (DTC) Advertising:** Marketing that promotes prescription drugs directly to consumers, bypassing healthcare professionals.
- 14. **Biopharmaceutical:** Relating to pharmaceuticals that are made using biotechnology.
- **15.Liberal Arts Major:** An academic program focusing on a broad spectrum of humanities and social sciences subjects, including literature, history, philosophy, and mathematics, aimed at fostering critical thinking and communication skills.
- 16. **Healthcare Businesswomen's Association (HBA):** A global nonprofit organization dedicated to furthering the advancement and impact of women in the business of healthcare, providing educational opportunities, networking, and mentorship.
- 17. **Analytics:** The systematic computational analysis of data or statistics.
- 18. **Persistence:** The quality of continuing steadfastly despite difficulties or obstacles.
- 19. Resilience: The capacity to recover quickly from difficulties; toughness.

LAB

© Dawn Heimer 2023

20. **Integrity:** The quality of being honest and having strong moral principles.

CN

5

8AJ

V

eN

21. **Steak vs. Sizzle:** A metaphor contrasting substantial, meaningful content (steak) with superficial, less significant allure (sizzle).



KARIN HOLLERBACH

Karin's book chapter narrates her evolution from a childhood enamored with biology and the outdoors to her discovery and love for engineering at MIT. Initially drawn to naturalism, she shifted to molecular biology for practical reasons before embracing engineering. Her story underlines the importance of integrating a wide array of interests into a STEM career, defying the typical either/or categorization. Karin ingeniously merged her passions for flying, endurance sports, meditation, and adventure with her professional life, developing aviation technologies and athletic performance wearables. Her journey highlights the value of diverse skills like deep focus from meditation, scientific understanding from flying, and creativity in problem-solving. These experiences not only enriched her STEM career but also taught her crucial lessons in embracing the full spectrum of her interests, leading to a more holistic and fulfilling professional path. AA

85

Key Points:

- 1. **Early Interest in STEM:** Initially drawn to biology and naturalism, her love for math and science was evident from childhood.
- 2. **Career Shifts:** In college, she shifted from a focus on field biology to molecular biology and later to engineering, driven by her environment and experiences at MIT.
- 3. **Combining Passions and Careers:** She faced the challenge of integrating non-STEM interests, like flying and endurance sports, into her STEM career. This integration reflects a holistic approach to personal and professional development.
- 4. **Breaking Stereotypes:** The narrative challenges the stereotype that one must strictly be either a scientist or an engineer. It advocates for the idea that diverse interests and skills can coexist and enhance each other.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

5. **Expanding STEM Boundaries:** She found ways to incorporate her love for flying, endurance sports, and extreme environments into her STEM work. This included using flying to assist in aviation technologies, designing wearables for athletes, and field testing technologies in extreme conditions.

8AJ

86

- 6. **Personal Growth Through Hobbies:** Her hobbies, like meditation and flying, contributed skills valuable to her STEM career, such as focus, deep awareness, and empathy.
- 7. **Full Circle to Original Passions:** Ultimately, she returned to her initial love for the outdoors and science, acknowledging the wisdom of her younger self and realizing that her varied interests could enrich her STEM career.

Vocabulary and Concepts:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **STEM:** An acronym for Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics, representing fields of study in these disciplines.
- 2. **Naturalist/Field Biologist:** A biologist who studies the natural world, often working in outdoor environments to observe and analyze ecosystems and wildlife.
- 3. **Molecular Biology:** A branch of biology focusing on the molecular basis of biological activity, often conducted in a laboratory setting.
- 4. **Engineering:** The application of scientific, mathematical, and empirical evidence to innovate, design, build, maintain, research, and improve structures, machines, tools, systems, components, materials, and processes.
- 5. **Life Science:** A branch of science that involves the study of living organisms, such as plants, animals, and human beings.
- 6. **Aikido:** A modern Japanese martial art that emphasizes fluid motion and the dynamics of movement, often used as a form of physical and mental discipline.
- 7. **Drones:** Unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) used for various purposes, including research, surveillance, and recreational activities.

8. **Wearables:** Electronic technologies or computers incorporated into items of clothing and accessories that can comfortably be worn on the body, often used for tracking health and fitness data.

8A

- 9. **Extreme Environments:** Harsh and challenging settings such as polar regions, high altitudes, or deep-sea locations require specialized equipment and knowledge for exploration and study.
- 10. **Physiological Monitoring:** The process of continuously observing and measuring bodily functions, such as heart rate, blood pressure, or oxygen levels, often using wearable technology.
- 11. **Meteorology:** The scientific study of the atmosphere and weather phenomena.
- 12. **Aerodynamics:** The study of the properties of moving air and the interaction between air and solid bodies moving through it, crucial in aviation and engineering.
- 13. **Empathy:** The ability to understand and share the feelings of others, an important trait in leadership and teamwork.
- 14. **Holistic Career Development:** An approach to career planning and development that integrates various aspects of an individual's life, interests, and passions rather than focusing solely on a traditional, linear career path.

© Dawn Heimer 2023



FATEMEH RAZJOUYAN

Fatemeh's book chapter unfolds her inspiring journey, from witnessing the horrors of war in Iran to achieving her dream in public health. Growing up in a male-dominated society, she faced significant challenges, including a discouraging encounter with a math teacher that made her question her aspirations. Despite societal constraints, her family's emphasis on education and her mother's unwavering support fueled her ambition. Moving to the US as a teenager, she tackled the language barrier and immersed herself in a new culture, driven by her passion for public health. Excelling in her studies, she volunteered at a hospital, which steered her towards Biomedical Engineering at George Washington University, thanks to a scholarship. Her research in breast cancer detection at the FDA further affirmed her dedication to public health. Fatemeh's career evolved through various roles at the FDA, where she honed her skills in medical device evaluation, policy shaping, and leadership. Her journey, marked by persistence, adaptability, and a relentless pursuit of her goals, underscores the importance of chasing experiences that align with one's purpose in life, overcoming challenges, and helping others rise along the way.

BA

88

Key Points:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Early Challenges:** Growing up in Iran during a time of war, she witnessed the effects of conflict on public health, sparking her interest in the field. However, societal norms in Iran limited her opportunities and discouraged her aspirations because of her gender.
- 2. **Discouragement in Education:** A significant incident in high school involved a math teacher belittling her for being a curious and ambitious girl, reinforcing the gender biases in her society.
- 3. **Supportive Family:** Despite societal challenges, she was fortunate to have parents who prioritized education and supported her dreams,

especially her mother, who encouraged her to dream big and pursue her goals.

ØΑ

- 4. **Immigration and Adaptation:** Moving to the US at 17, she faced the challenge of adapting to a new culture and learning English, which she tackled with determination, setting and achieving language proficiency goals.
- 5. **Educational Journey:** She excelled academically at Northern Virginia Community College and later pursued Biomedical Engineering at George Washington University, thanks to a scholarship. Her interest in public health persisted, leading her to research breast cancer detection.
- 6. **Professional Growth:** Her career began with an internship at the FDA, focusing on breast cancer research. She later worked in the Office of Device Evaluation, contributing to public health through medical device regulation and policy.
- 7. **Leadership Development:** She was selected for the Leadership Readiness Program at the FDA, enhancing her leadership skills and deepening her commitment to public health policy.
- 8. **Global Impact:** She transitioned to the private sector, where she influenced global regulatory policy for medical devices, extending her impact on public health beyond the US.
- 9. **Philosophy and Empowerment:** Throughout her journey, she emphasizes the importance of resilience, adaptability, and never giving up on one's passions. She believes in lifting others as we rise and cherishes the joy and satisfaction that comes from helping others.
- 10. **Visualizing Success:** She visualizes challenges as rocks and herself as water, emphasizing the importance of finding a way through obstacles and emerging stronger.



1. **Public Health:** The science and art of preventing disease, prolonging life, and promoting health through organized efforts and informed choices of society, organizations, public and private communities, and individuals.

ЯA

90

- 2. **Biomedical Engineering (BME):** An interdisciplinary field that applies principles and design concepts from engineering to healthcare and biology for diagnostics, treatment, and monitoring.
- 3. **Infrared Thermal Imaging:** A technique used in various fields, including medical diagnostics, to detect heat differences in the body and turn them into visual, colorful images.
- 4. **Electrical Impedance Tomography:** A medical imaging technique that creates images of internal body structures based on the electrical properties of tissues.
- 5. **Mammography:** A common medical imaging technique used to detect and diagnose breast cancer.
- 6. Emancipated: Freed from legal, social, or political restrictions.
- **7. Magna Cum Laude:** An academic honor conferred upon graduates who have achieved a high level of distinction in their academic record, typically falling just below the highest honor, summa cum laude.
- 8. Office of Science and Engineering Laboratory (OSEL): A division of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) that provides scientific and engineering expertise to support the regulatory decision-making process at the FDA.
- **9. FDA's Leadership Readiness Program:** Designed to prepare highpotential FDA employees for leadership roles, focusing on the skills necessary for management and oversight in the healthcare regulatory environment.
- **10.Unmet Medical Need:** A medical condition for which there exists no adequate approved therapy or where the current therapy does not adequately address the condition, there is an opportunity for new treatment development.
- 11. **Office of In-Vitro Diagnostics and Radiological Health (OIR):** Part of the FDA responsible for regulating firms who manufacture, repackage, re-label, and/or import in-vitro diagnostic products and radiological health devices in the US, ensuring their safety and effectiveness.
- 12. Food and Drug Administration (FDA): A U.S. government agency responsible for protecting public health by ensuring the safety, efficacy, and security of drugs, biological products, and medical devices.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

13.**Office of Device Evaluation (ODE):** A division within the FDA that evaluates and approves medical devices for use.

ØA

- 14. **Leadership Readiness Program:** A program designed to train and prepare individuals for leadership roles within an organization.
- 15.**In-Vitro Diagnostics:** Medical tests and diagnostics conducted on samples taken from the human body, such as blood or tissue.
- 16. **Radiological Health:** A field concerned with the protection of people from the harmful effects of ionizing radiation, which is used in many medical procedures.
- 17. **Regulatory Policy:** The set of rules and guidelines that govern the development, approval, and use of medical products and technologies.
- 18. **Global Regulatory Policy:** Regulatory policy that encompasses international standards and practices, often involving multinational cooperation.
- 19. **Empowerment:** The process of becoming stronger and more confident, especially in controlling one's life and claiming one's rights.
- 20. **Persistence and Tenacity:** The quality of being determined to do or achieve something despite difficulties or setbacks.

LAB © Dawn Heimer 2023



DISCUSSION QUESTIONS AND Activities

ŝ





CHRISTINA GOETHEL

Discussion Questions:

1. **Persistence and Challenges:** How did the narrator's persistence help her overcome the challenges she faced? Discuss a time when you had to be persistent to achieve a goal. AA

- 2. **Role of Mentorship:** In what ways did Mrs. Crawford and Dr. Jacqueline Grebmeier influence the narrator's career? Discuss the importance of mentorship in personal and professional development.
- 3. **Impact of Early Experiences:** How did the narrator's early experiences with the ocean influence her career path? Share an early experience of your own that has shaped your interests or career aspirations.
- 4. **Financial Barriers in Education:** The narrator faced financial barriers to her educational pursuits. Discuss the impact of economic challenges on access to educational opportunities and propose potential solutions.
- 5. **Science and Personal Growth:** How did the narrator's scientific journey contribute to her personal growth? Reflect on how academic or professional experiences have influenced your personal development.
- 6. **Dealing with Loss and Commitment:** How did the narrator's decision to continue her expedition after her father's passing demonstrate her commitment to her career? Discuss the importance of commitment in the face of personal challenges.

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

 Research Project on Marine Science: Assign students to research a specific area of marine science (e.g., the impact of climate change on Arctic ecosystems) and present their findings to the class. 2. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Have students write a short story or essay from the perspective of a young scientist embarking on their first major research expedition, incorporating elements of challenge and discovery.

ØA

- 3. **Debate on Financial Barriers in Science Education:** Organize a debate on the topic: "Financial barriers are the most significant obstacle to pursuing a career in science." Assign students to both sides of the argument.
- 4. **Role Model Presentation:** Ask students to prepare a presentation on a scientist who they view as a role model, focusing on the scientist's contributions and the challenges they overcame.
- 5. **Field Trip Proposal:** Task students with designing a field trip related to marine science, including objectives, activities, and expected learning outcomes.
- 6. **Journaling Personal Experiences:** Encourage students to keep a journal for a week, documenting moments of learning, challenges, and personal growth inspired by the narrator's journey.



LOLA ADEYEMI

Discussion Questions:

1. **Personal Loss as Motivation:** How did personal loss motivate Dr. Lola to start Magna Carta Health? Discuss how personal experiences can drive individuals to initiate change.

8A

- 2. **Healthcare and Environment:** In what ways are health and the environment interconnected, as observed by Dr. Lola in her studies? Share your thoughts on how environmental factors impact health in your community.
- 3. **Challenges in Starting a Health Business:** What were the significant challenges Dr. Lola faced in establishing Magna Carta Health, and how did she overcome them? Reflect on a challenge you've faced and how you addressed it.
- 4. **Preventive vs. Curative Healthcare:** Why did Dr. Lola focus on preventive healthcare? Debate the importance of preventive care versus curative care in modern healthcare systems.
- 5. **Global Health Equity:** What is global health equity, and how did Dr. Lola's vision contribute to it? Discuss the importance of health equity in today's world.
- 6. **Role of Education in Healthcare:** How did Dr. Lola's educational background shape her approach to healthcare? Discuss the role of education in addressing health issues.

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

1. **Research Project:** Assign students to research and present on preventive healthcare models in different countries and their effectiveness.

2. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Ask students to write a short story or essay from the perspective of someone starting a healthcare initiative in a challenging environment inspired by Dr. Lola's journey.

ØA

96

- 3. **Debate on Healthcare Priorities:** Organize a debate on "Preventive Healthcare vs. Advanced Medical Technologies: What should be the priority in developing countries?"
- 4. **Role Model Presentation:** Have students present on a healthcare leader or innovator who has made significant contributions to global health, focusing on their challenges and achievements.
- 5. **Environmental Health Study:** Conduct a class project to study and report on the impact of a specific environmental factor on health in the students' local area.
- 6. **Simulation Exercise:** Create a simulated exercise where students must plan and propose a healthcare initiative for an underserved community, addressing funding, education, and cultural challenges.

LAB

© Dawn Heimer 2023

ERIKA EBBEL ANGLE

Discussion Questions:

1. **Impact of Early Experiences:** How did Erika's early experiences with her mother at free clinics influence her career and life choices? Discuss how early exposure to societal issues can shape one's future.

AA

- 2. **Volunteering and Personal Growth:** What role did volunteering at the Martin Luther King Center play in Erika's development? Share your own experiences of how volunteering has impacted you.
- 3. **Challenges in Scientific Inquiry:** How did Erika overcome challenges in her early scientific endeavors? Discuss a time when you faced an obstacle in learning or pursuing a passion.
- 4. **STEM Education's Importance:** Why did Erika feel compelled to start "Science from Scientists"? Debate the significance of hands-on learning and early exposure to STEM education.
- 5. **Self-Improvement Through Pageantry:** How did participating in the Miss America program contribute to Erika's personal development? Discuss how activities outside of one's comfort zone can lead to growth.
- 6. **STEM and Gender Stereotypes:** Erika noticed a difference in STEM enthusiasm between younger students and high schoolers, especially girls. Why do you think this happens, and how can it be addressed?



LAB

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

1. **Science Fair Project Design:** Have students design their own science fair project inspired by Erika's early experiments. Encourage them to think of a question they are curious about and devise a simple experiment to explore it.

2. **Volunteer Program Plan:** Task students with creating a plan for a volunteer program that addresses a local community need, similar to Erika's work at the community center.

ØA

98

- 3. **Debate on STEM Education:** Organize a debate on "Is hands-on learning more effective than traditional classroom methods in STEM education?"
- 4. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Ask students to write a story or essay about a character who finds their passion and overcomes challenges to pursue it, drawing inspiration from Erika's journey.
- 5. **Research on Herbal Remedies:** Conduct a research project where students investigate the effectiveness of traditional herbal remedies in treating modern ailments, paralleling Erika's science fair research.
- 6. **Public Speaking Workshop:** Inspired by Erika's participation in pageants, organize a workshop to help students develop their public speaking skills.

LAB

© Dawn Heimer 2023

EVA SUARTHANA

Discussion Questions:

1. **Early Influences:** How did Eva's mother and her work with the community influence Eva's career choice? Discuss how family and early experiences can shape one's career path.

ÅÅ

- 2. **Importance of Public Health:** Why was Eva's work in educating young mothers and collaborating with companies significant in the field of public health? Share your views on the role of education in public health.
- 3. **Cultural Adaptation and Identity:** What challenges did Eva face when moving to the Netherlands, especially regarding her Muslim identity? Discuss the importance of cultural adaptation and maintaining one's identity in a new environment.
- 4. **Contributions to Epidemiology:** How did Eva's research in epidemiology contribute to the field, particularly regarding occupational health? Discuss the impact of such research on workplace safety and employee health.
- 5. **Balancing Career and Family:** What challenges do you think Eva faced as a working mother, and how did she overcome them? Share your thoughts on balancing professional and personal life.
- 6. **Global Health and Education:** In what ways do you think Eva's work in women's health made a difference? Discuss the role of global outreach and education in healthcare.

Activities:

LAB

1. **Public Health Project:** Assign students to create a public health campaign focusing on a common health issue in their community, similar to Eva's dehydration prevention project.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

2. **Cultural Exchange Discussion:** Host a class discussion or writing assignment where students share their experiences or thoughts about adapting to new cultures and environments.

ØA

- 3. **Research on Epidemiology:** Have students research and present on a specific area of epidemiology, such as occupational health or disease prevention, drawing parallels with Eva's work.
- 4. **Role Model Presentation:** Students can choose a female scientist or public health professional as a role model and present on her contributions and challenges faced in her career.
- 5. **Creative Writing on Identity and Adaptation:** Ask students to write a first-person narrative about moving to and adapting to a new country while maintaining one's cultural identity, inspired by Eva's story.
- 6. **Debate on Work-Life Balance:** Organize a debate on "Is it possible to balance a high-powered career with family life effectively?" encouraging students to explore different perspectives.



ANNE CAMILLE TALLEY

Discussion Questions:

1. **Alternative Learning Methods:** How did Anne's brother help her overcome her struggle with multiplication? Discuss the importance of alternative learning methods in education.

ЯA

101

- 2. **Art and Science Integration:** In what ways did art classes contribute to Anne's understanding of science? Share your thoughts on how diverse disciplines can complement each other.
- 3. **Career Choices and Influences:** How did Anne's family influence her career choices? Discuss the impact of family and mentors in shaping career paths.
- 4. **Biotechnology and Business:** What challenges and opportunities do you think Anne faced in merging her biology background with business? Discuss the importance of interdisciplinary skills in today's job market.
- 5. **Technology Adaptation:** How did Anne's approach to technology contribute to her career? Discuss the balance between mastering new technologies and relying on foundational skills.
- 6. **STEM, Religion, and Art (STREAM):** Anne views her education and career as a combination of STEM, Religion, and Art. How do you think this holistic approach benefited her? Discuss the concept of STREAM in education

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

1. **Interdisciplinary Project:** Students can work on a project that combines elements of art and science, such as creating a scientific infographic or a science-themed art piece.
2. **Role-Playing Exercise:** Organize a role-playing activity where students act as consultants, combining knowledge from different fields to solve a problem in biotechnology.

8A)

102

- 3. **Career Path Mapping:** Have students create a career path map for themselves, integrating their interests in various fields inspired by Anne's journey.
- 4. **Debate on Education Methods:** Host a debate on traditional vs. alternative learning methods, focusing on their effectiveness in different learning situations.
- 5. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Students can write a short story or essay about a character who successfully combines diverse skills to achieve their goals, drawing inspiration from Anne's story.
- 6. **Technology Adaptation Workshop:** Conduct a workshop where students learn and discuss how to adapt to new technologies while leveraging their existing skills.

LAB

MELANIE L. FLORES

Discussion Questions:

1. **Impact of Childhood Experiences:** How did moving frequently and being the "new girl" contribute to Melanie's resilience and adaptability? Discuss how childhood experiences can influence personal and professional development.

8A

103

- 2. **Role of Teachers in STEM Passion:** How did Melanie's teachers influence her interest in STEM? Share a personal experience about how a teacher influenced your academic or career choices.
- 3. **Challenges in Manufacturing:** What unique challenges did Melanie face in her role as a Production Shift Supervisor, and how did she overcome them? Discuss the importance of adaptability in the workplace.
- 4. **Skills Learned in the Workplace:** What key skills did Melanie develop while working in the optical fiber factory, and how were these skills applicable in other areas of her life? Discuss how specific job roles can provide transferable skills.
- 5. **Creativity in STEM Careers:** Melanie mentions the creative aspect of STEM careers. How can creativity be an asset in scientific fields? Discuss the intersection of creativity and technical skills in STEM.
- 6. **Building Lasting Impacts:** How did Melanie's desire to build something lasting and impactful reflect in her career choices? Discuss the importance of having a long-term impact on one's career.

Activities:

LAB

1. **Career Path Mapping:** Have students map out a career path that combines their personal experiences, interests, and skills inspired by Melanie's journey.



8AJ

104

- 3. **Debate on Women in STEM:** Host a debate on the topic: "Are women in STEM fields still facing greater challenges than their male counterparts?"
- 4. **Creative Writing on Resilience:** Students can write a short story or essay about a character who overcomes personal and professional challenges through resilience and adaptability.
- 5. **STEM Creativity Project:** Students create a project that showcases how creativity can be applied in a STEM field, such as designing an innovative product or process.
- 6. **Panel Discussion on Career Skills:** Organize a panel discussion with professionals from different fields to talk about the key skills they've learned in their jobs and how these skills are transferable.

LAB



- 1. **Overcoming Societal Expectations:** How did Trika defy societal norms to pursue her passion in marine environmental science? Discuss the challenges and rewards of pursuing a career that deviates from societal or familial expectations.
- 2. **Influence of Educational Experiences:** How did Mr. Gumbs' biology class influence Trika's career path? Share a personal experience where a teacher significantly impacted your interests or career choices.
- 3. **Diversity in STEM Fields:** Considering Trika's feelings of isolation as an African American woman in science, discuss the importance of diversity in STEM fields. Why is representation important?
- 4. **Career Choices and Environmental Impact:** How does Trika's work contribute to our understanding of marine life and ecosystems? Discuss the broader implications of her research on environmental conservation and policy.
- 5. **Overcoming Personal Doubts:** In what ways did Trika overcome her doubts and fears to achieve success in her field? Discuss strategies for overcoming self-doubt and building confidence.
- 6. **Significance of Groundbreaking Research:** What makes Trika's fisheries oceanography survey around Cuba a notable achievement? Discuss the challenges and impacts of conducting such groundbreaking research.

Activities:

LAB

1. **Research Project on Marine Life:** Students can research and present on a specific aspect of marine life or an environmental issue related to marine ecosystems inspired by Trika's work.

105

2. **Role-Playing Activity:** Organize a role-playing activity where students act as marine scientists planning a research expedition, incorporating elements like budgeting, logistics, and research objectives.

8A1

106

- 3. **Debate on Women in Science:** Host a debate on the topic: "Are initiatives to promote diversity in STEM fields effective in increasing representation?"
- 4. **Creative Writing on Overcoming Challenges:** Students can write a short story or personal essay about a character who overcomes societal pressures to pursue a passion, drawing inspiration from Trika's journey.
- 5. **STEM Career Exploration:** Have students research various careers in STEM, focusing on the qualifications, challenges, and impacts of these professions. They can then present their findings to the class.
- 6. **Environmental Science Awareness Campaign:** Students can create an awareness campaign on a relevant environmental issue, such as the importance of protecting marine life or understanding ocean currents.

LAB

SANDY JO MACARTHUR

Discussion Questions:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

1. **Overcoming Societal Expectations:** How did Sandy Jo defy the societal expectations regarding her career choices? Discuss the importance of following one's own interests despite societal pressures or stereotypes.

8A)

107

- 2. **Role of Supportive Relationships:** How did the support from her friend Marge and her parents influence Sandy Jo's career path? Share a personal experience where support from friends or family helped you overcome a challenge.
- 3. **Challenges as a Woman in Law Enforcement:** What specific challenges did Sandy Jo face as a woman in the police force, and how did she overcome them? Discuss the importance of diversity and inclusion in traditionally male-dominated fields.
- 4. **Impact of Leadership Positions:** How did Sandy Jo's rise to Assistant Chief in the LAPD impact the department and other women in law enforcement? Discuss the role of women in leadership positions in shaping organizational culture.
- 5. **Continued Passion for Adventure and Science:** How did Sandy Jo maintain her love for adventure and science throughout her career? Discuss the importance of balancing professional responsibilities with personal passions.
- 6. **Empowerment and Big Dreams:** What is the significance of Sandy Jo's message to "dream big"? Discuss how setting high aspirations can shape one's career and life.

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

1. **Career Exploration Project:** Students can research and present on careers in law enforcement, focusing on the qualifications, challenges, and opportunities for women in the field.

ЯA

108

- 2. **Role-Playing Activity:** Organize a role-playing scenario where students act as police officers handling various situations, emphasizing decision-making, communication, and teamwork.
- 3. **Debate on Gender Stereotypes:** Host a debate on the topic: "Gender stereotypes still significantly impact career choices in today's society."
- 4. **Creative Writing on Overcoming Obstacles:** Students can write a short story or personal essay about a character who overcomes societal challenges to pursue their dream career, drawing inspiration from Sandy Jo's journey.
- 5. **Panel Discussion on Women in Male-Dominated Fields:** Invite female professionals from various traditionally male-dominated fields to discuss their experiences, challenges, and advice for young women aspiring to enter those fields.
- 6. **Adventure and Science Journal:** Have students keep a journal where they document their own adventurous experiences or scientific observations, encouraging them to explore and appreciate the world around them.

FELECIA BOWSER

Discussion Questions:

1. **Early Inspirations and Passion:** How did Felecia's early interest in meteorology shape her career path? Discuss how childhood interests can evolve into lifelong passions and careers.

AA

109

- 2. **Overcoming Academic Challenges:** What strategies did Felecia use to overcome her struggles in physics? Discuss the importance of seeking help and being persistent in areas where one faces challenges.
- 3. **Impact of Negative Feedback:** How did Felecia turn a negative encounter with a college teacher into a motivating force? Share a personal experience where you transformed criticism or doubt into motivation.
- 4. **Support Systems in Education:** How did Felecia's group of friends in college contribute to her success? Discuss the role of peer support in academic and personal growth.
- 5. **Women in STEM:** Considering Felecia's role as a female meteorologist, what challenges do women still face in STEM fields, and how can these be addressed? Discuss the importance of role models in changing perceptions and encouraging diversity in STEM.
- 6. **Career Satisfaction and Community Impact:** How does Felecia's work impact her community and young students? Discuss the significance of professionals engaging in community outreach and education.

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

 Weather Diary Project: Students keep a weather diary for a week, recording observations and researching the science behind different weather phenomena. 2. **Role-Playing Meteorologist:** Organize a role-playing activity where students act as meteorologists, presenting a weather report based on their research or current weather data.

ØA

- 3. **Debate on STEM Education:** Host a debate on "The challenges and solutions for increasing female representation in STEM fields."
- 4. **Creative Writing on Overcoming Obstacles:** Students write a short story about a character who overcomes academic challenges and societal doubts to pursue their dream career, inspired by Felecia's story.
- 5. **Meteorology Science Fair:** Students can create projects or experiments related to meteorology, such as building a simple weather station, and present their findings at a class science fair.
- 6. **Panel Discussion on Resilience:** Invite guest speakers to talk about resilience and perseverance in their careers, focusing on how they overcame challenges and the importance of persistence.

LAB © Dawn Heimer 2023 110

KIMBERLY SMITH

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

Discussion Questions:

1. **Resilience Against Health Challenges:** How did Kimberly's health challenges, like ADD and scoliosis, impact her educational journey and career path? Discuss how overcoming personal health challenges can shape one's character and ambitions.

8A

111

- 2. **Impact of Discouragement and Encouragement:** Reflect on Kimberly's experience with a discouraging teacher versus her supportive parents. How can negative and positive feedback influence a person's career choices and self-belief?
- 3. **Choosing a Less Traveled Path in STEM:** What motivated Kimberly to pursue a career in geology, and how did she navigate being in a field with few experts? Discuss the advantages and challenges of pursuing a career in lesser-known scientific fields.
- 4. **Contributions to Environmental Conservation:** How did Kimberly's work contribute to environmental conservation, and what impact did it have on the community? Discuss the importance of individual contributions to larger environmental issues.
- 5. **Women in Non-Traditional Roles:** Considering her experience in the construction industry, discuss the challenges and opportunities for women in traditionally male-dominated fields. How can society encourage more women to enter these fields?
- 6. **Dealing with Personal Loss and Professional Growth:** How did the loss of her mother affect Kimberly's professional life and personal growth? Discuss the ways in which personal experiences can drive professional ambitions.

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

1. **Environmental Research Project:** Students can conduct a research project on a specific environmental issue, such as beach erosion or endangered species, inspired by Kimberly's work.

ØA

112

- 2. **Role-Playing Activity:** Create a role-playing scenario where students act as environmental geologists, making decisions on land development and conservation.
- 3. **Debate on Educational Support Systems:** Host a debate on "The Role of Educators in Shaping Student Aspirations," focusing on the impact of encouragement and discouragement.
- 4. **Creative Writing on Overcoming Obstacles:** Students write a short story or essay about a character who overcomes personal and academic challenges to achieve their dream career, drawing inspiration from Kimberly's journey.
- 5. **STEM Career Exploration Panel:** Invite professionals from various STEM fields, especially those underrepresented by women, to discuss their experiences and provide insights for students interested in similar careers.
- 6. **Modeling and Pageantry Presentation:** Have students research and present on how activities like modeling and pageantry can be platforms for advocacy and personal development, relating to Kimberly's experience in pageantry.



1. **Role of Family in Education:** How did Selina's family background and their emphasis on education shape her journey? Discuss the influence of family in shaping career aspirations.

AA

113

- 2. **Balancing Diverse Interests:** Selina was involved in various activities in high school. Discuss the benefits and challenges of balancing diverse interests and academics.
- 3. **Dealing with Stereotypes:** How did Selina handle gender-based stereotypes and negative comments in her academic journey? Discuss strategies for dealing with stereotypes in educational settings.
- 4. **The Importance of Mentorship:** Reflect on the role mentors played in Selina's life. Discuss the importance of mentorship in personal and professional development.
- 5. **Overcoming Failure:** Selina viewed failure as a learning opportunity. How can this mindset be beneficial in educational and career pursuits?
- 6. **Role of Giving Back:** Discuss the importance of giving back, as demonstrated by Selina's role as an academic coordinator. How does giving back contribute to personal and professional growth?



LAB

Activities:

- 1. **Essay Writing:** Write an essay on "The Role of Family in Shaping Career Goals," reflecting on personal experiences or Selina's narrative.
- 2. **Debate on Gender Stereotypes in Education:** Organize a debate on how gender stereotypes affect educational choices and career paths.

3. **Goal-Setting Workshop:** Conduct a workshop on effective goal-setting strategies, drawing inspiration from Selina's approach to balancing diverse interests.

ØA

- 4. **Role-Playing Activity:** In groups, role-play scenarios of facing and overcoming stereotypes or setbacks in an academic setting.
- 5. **Mentorship Program Planning:** Design a plan for a school or community-based mentorship program, highlighting its structure, objectives, and potential impacts.
- 6. **Community Service Project:** Organize a community service or volunteering activity, emphasizing the value of giving back and its impact on personal growth.
- 7. **Personal Reflection Journal:** Keep a journal for a week, noting challenges faced and strategies used to overcome them, inspired by Selina's resilience in facing obstacles.

LAURIE HALLORAN

Discussion Questions:

1. **Reflect on Challenges and Adaptability:** Discuss the challenges Laurie faced in her career journey. How did her ability to adapt play a role in her success?

ЯA

115

- 2. **Gender Expectations and Career Choices:** How did societal expectations influence Laurie's early career choices? Discuss the impact of gender roles on career decisions.
- 3. **Ethics in Clinical Research:** What ethical dilemmas did Laurie encounter in clinical research, and how did she address them? Discuss the importance of ethics in scientific research.
- 4. **Balancing Personal and Professional Life:** How did Laurie balance her career with her personal life? Discuss strategies for maintaining this balance in demanding careers.
- 5. **Role of Mentorship and Support:** What role did mentorship and support from others play in Laurie's career? Share experiences of mentorship in your own life.
- 6. **Perseverance and Overcoming Obstacles:** Discuss the concept of resilience as demonstrated by Laurie. How can one develop resilience in the face of obstacles?
- 7. **Importance of Giving Back:** What are the ways Laurie gives back to the community? Why is giving back important in a successful career?

Activities:

LAB

 Role-Play Exercise: In groups, role-play a scenario where a student must make a career decision influenced by societal expectations. Discuss the outcomes.

2. **Debate on Gender Roles in Careers:** Organize a debate on the impact of gender roles on career choices and how society can move towards more gender-neutral career guidance.

8A1

- 3. **Research Project:** Conduct a research project on the history and importance of ethics in clinical research. Present findings in a class presentation.
- 4. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Write a short story or essay on a day in the life of a clinical research associate, highlighting the challenges and rewards of the job.
- 5. **Interview a Mentor:** Interview a mentor or someone you admire professionally. Write a report on their career journey and the advice they offer.
- 6. **Create a "Balancing Life" Plan:** Create a plan or guide on balancing personal and professional life, using the chapter as inspiration.
- 7. **Community Service Project:** Plan and execute a small community service project or charity drive, reflecting on the theme of giving back, as demonstrated by Laurie.





1. **Overcoming Challenges:** Discuss a time when you faced a similar challenge in a subject like math or science. How did you overcome it? What strategies worked for you?

ЯA

117

- 2. **Career Path Shifts:** Nikita changed her career path from medicine to engineering. Have you ever considered changing your career path or interests? What factors would influence such a decision?
- 3. **Role of Support Systems:** How important is the role of family, teachers, and friends in shaping one's career choices and overcoming fears? Share examples from your life or the book chapter.
- 4. **Importance of Stepping Out of Comfort Zone:** Nikita's move to the U.S. for higher education was a significant step out of her comfort zone. Discuss the importance of such steps in personal and professional growth.
- 5. **Impact of Early Experiences:** How do early experiences in school shape our future career choices and attitudes towards certain subjects? Reflect on your own experiences.

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

- 1. **Research Project:** Investigate the field of Biomedical Engineering. What are its key areas and recent advancements, and how does it impact society? Present your findings in a class presentation or a written report.
- 2. **Debate: Organize a debate on the topic:** "Is it necessary to be good at math to excel in STEM fields?" Assign roles for students to argue for and against the statement.

3. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Write a short story or essay from the perspective of a student who struggles with a subject but finds a unique way to overcome their fear and succeed.

ØA

118

- 4. **Role Model Interview:** Interview a professional in the STEM field (if possible, in biomedical engineering). Ask about their career path, challenges faced, and advice for students interested in STEM.
- 5. **Math Fear Workshop:** Host a workshop where students share their fears related to math or science and collectively brainstorm strategies to overcome these fears. Document these strategies in a shared resource for the class.
- 6. **Biomedical Engineering Design Challenge:** In teams, design a simple prototype of a medical device that could solve a common health problem. Present the design and explain its functionality.
- 7. **Career Path Timeline:** Create a timeline of your envisioned career path, including potential shifts and changes. Reflect on what influences these decisions (e.g., personal interests, external events, family advice).

LAB



1. **Overcoming Stereotypes:** How did Laura defy traditional gender roles and societal expectations in her journey to becoming a scientist? Discuss how overcoming these stereotypes impacted her career. ЯA

119

- 2. **Role Models and Influence:** How important was the role of her high school chemistry teacher in shaping her interest in science? Discuss the impact of mentors and role models in choosing a career path.
- 3. **Integration of Science and Art (STEAM):** What are the benefits of integrating science with creative arts, as Laura did with her crocheting and quilting? Discuss how this integration can enhance the understanding and appreciation of scientific concepts.
- 4. **Dealing with Discouragement:** Discuss ways to handle discouragement and negative feedback, drawing on Laura's experiences with college professors.
- 5. **Balancing Interests:** How did Laura balance her scientific career with her personal interests and hobbies? Why is it important to maintain such a balance?

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

- 1. **Create a Science-Art Project:** Inspired by Laura's crocheted temperature data and environmental quilts, have students create an art project that represents a scientific concept or data set.
- Research and Present: Assign students to research different women in STEM who have made significant contributions. Each student can present a chosen figure, highlighting their achievements and challenges faced.

3. **Debate on Gender Roles in STEM:** Organize a debate on the topic "Gender roles should not define career choices in STEM fields." This will encourage students to explore and articulate their views on gender stereotypes in science and technology.

ЯA

120

- 4. **Classroom STEAM Fair:** Host a STEAM fair where students can display projects that combine elements of science, technology, engineering, arts, and mathematics.
- 5. **Write a Reflective Essay:** Ask students to write an essay on the theme "Overcoming Challenges in Pursuit of Passion." They can use Laura's story as a reference point or draw on personal experiences.
- 6. **Science Communication Workshop:** Conduct a workshop where students learn how to communicate scientific concepts through various mediums such as blogging, video-making, or art.
- 7. **Guest Speaker Session:** Invite a woman in a STEM profession to speak to the class about her experiences, challenges, and successes.
- 8. **Career Exploration Project:** Have students explore different STEM careers and present on what those jobs entail, the education required, and potential challenges and rewards.

LAB



1. **Overcoming Challenges:** How did Michele overcome the initial disappointment of not being selected for the NOAA Corps? Discuss the importance of resilience in achieving career goals.

ЯA

121

- 2. **Stepping Out of Comfort Zones:** In what ways did Michele step out of her comfort zone throughout her career? How important is this for personal and professional growth?
- 3. **Breaking Gender Barriers:** As one of the few women in her field, especially in leadership roles, how might she have navigated gender-related challenges? Discuss the significance of diversity in STEM fields.
- 4. **The Role of Persistence and Adaptability:** Analyze how Michele's persistence and adaptability influenced her career trajectory. Can these qualities be developed, and if so, how?

Activities:

- 1. **Research Project:** Research the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's Commissioned Officer Corps. Present a report on its history, roles, and significance in environmental protection and research.
- 2. **Role-Playing Exercise:** Conduct a role-playing activity where students take on different roles within the NOAA Corps, such as a ship captain, a hurricane hunter pilot, or a marine biologist, to understand the diverse responsibilities within the organization.
- Creative Writing Assignment: Write a short story or essay from the perspective of a woman breaking barriers in a male-dominated field, inspired by Michele's experiences.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

4. **Debate: Organize a debate on the topic:** "Persistence is more important than talent in achieving career success." Use examples from the chapter to support arguments.

8AJ

eN

- 5. **Interview Project:** Interview a woman in a STEM field and create a presentation about her career journey, challenges, and accomplishments.
- 6. **STEM Career Exploration Activity:** Host a career exploration day where students research various careers in STEM, particularly those related to environmental science and oceanography, and present their findings.
- 7. **Personal Reflection Essay:** Write an essay on a time when you had to step out of your comfort zone and how it impacted your personal growth, drawing parallels with Michele's experiences.

LAB © Dawn Heimer 2023 Na 122

SANDRA LOPEZ LEON

Discussion Questions:

1. **Role Models in STEM:** How did Sandra's family influence her career choice? Discuss the importance of having role models in STEM, especially for young women.

AA

123

- 2. **Challenging Gender Norms:** Sandra engaged in activities traditionally considered for boys. How does breaking gender norms in childhood contribute to career choices in STEM?
- 3. **The Power of Encouragement:** Reflect on Sandra's mother's statement: "You can do and study whatever you want; there is no profession only for men or women." Discuss how such encouragement can impact a girl's career choices.
- 4. **Balancing Personal and Professional Life:** How does Sandra balance her scientific career and family life? Discuss the challenges and strategies for maintaining this balance.
- 5. **Inspiration from Art:** Discuss how the painting described in the chapter symbolizes Sandra's life and career. What does this integration of art and science tell us about creativity in STEM fields?

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

- 1. **Role Model Presentation:** Have students research and present about a female role model in science. Focus on her challenges, achievements, and impact on society.
- 2. **Debate on Gender Norms:** Organize a debate on the topic: "Breaking gender norms in childhood leads to more diverse career choices in adulthood." Assign roles for and against the statement.

3. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Ask students to write a short story or poem inspired by Sandra's journey, emphasizing the themes of determination, overcoming challenges, and the joy of discovery in science.

ØA

124

- 4. **Family Tree of Professions:** Students create a family tree highlighting the professions of their family members. Discuss how family professions can influence career choices.
- 5. **Art Meets Science Project:** Inspired by the painting in the chapter, students create an artwork that integrates a scientific concept (like DNA, neurons, or the solar system) with personal elements that reflect their interests or aspirations in STEM.
- 6. **Panel Discussion on Work-Life Balance:** Organize a panel discussion with local STEM professionals (try to include diverse backgrounds and genders) to talk about balancing personal and professional life.
- 7. **Exploring STEM Careers:** Students research various careers in STEM (this may include asking a scientist if a student can shadow them for a day at work), focusing on what each job entails, the education needed, and potential impacts on society. Share findings in a class presentation.

LAB



1. **The Role of Exposure in Shaping STEM Careers:** How did Erin's early exposure to engineering shape her career choices? Discuss the importance of early exposure to various career fields for young students.

ØΑ

125

- 2. **Defying the Norm:** Reflect on the challenges she faced as a female engineer in a male-dominated field. How do you think these challenges might have changed her approach to her career?
- 3. **Evolving Innovations and Embracing Change:** Discuss the significance of her transition from traditional automotive engineering to electric cars. What does this shift say about the evolving nature of engineering fields?
- 4. **Identity and Innovation:** How did societal expectations and stereotypes affect her behavior and self-perception in her early career? What strategies did she use to overcome these challenges?
- 5. **Pioneering Pathways:** Analyze the impact of her achievements on the perception of women in STEM fields. How does her story contribute to breaking down gender barriers in traditionally male-dominated industries?

LAB

Activities:

- 1. **Role-Playing Exercise:** Students can role-play a scenario where they are engineers facing challenges similar to those in the chapter. This could include negotiating a project, presenting an innovative idea, or addressing gender bias in a professional setting.
- 2. **Debate:** Organize a debate on the topic "The future of automotive technology lies in electric vehicles." This will encourage students to

8000

LAB

© Dawn Heimer 2023

research and understand the evolving trends in automotive engineering.

ЯA

126

- 3. **Design Project:** Assign a creative project where students design a prototype of an environmentally friendly vehicle. They can use materials like cardboard, plastic bottles, and other recyclables to build a model.
- 4. **Career Research Assignment:** Have students research different fields within engineering and present on a specific area, such as mechanical, electrical, or environmental engineering. They should include potential career paths and current innovations in the field.
- 5. **Writing Assignment:** Ask students to write an essay on the role of women in STEM over the past 50 years. They should focus on the challenges, progress made, and what still needs to be done to achieve gender equality in STEM fields.
- 6. **Guest Speaker Session:** Invite a female engineer to speak to the class about her experiences, challenges, and achievements. This can provide students with real-life insights and inspiration.
- 7. **Group Discussion:** Host a discussion on how societal and cultural factors influence career choices, especially in fields like engineering. Encourage students to share their thoughts and experiences related to this topic.



1. **Overcoming Barriers:** How did Rokelle overcome language and cultural barriers when she moved to South Africa? Discuss the role of resilience and adaptability in her success.

ЯA

127

- 2. **Breaking Gender Norms:** In what ways did Rokelle challenge traditional gender roles in her career and hobbies? Discuss the importance of breaking stereotypes in professional and personal life.
- 3. **Career Transition:** What motivated the shift from journalism to real estate? Discuss the skills and experiences from her journalism career that helped her in real estate development.
- 4. **Risk-taking in Business:** Analyze the risks and opportunities she saw in the real estate market during the economic recession. Discuss how risk-taking can be a strategic move in business.
- 5. **Integrating Art and Business:** How did her artistic talents contribute to her success in real estate? Discuss the significance of integrating diverse interests and skills in a career.
- 6. **Personal Growth and Professional Success:** Reflect on Rokelle 's belief that personal interests, like art and nature, should be part of one's professional life. How does this perspective shape one's career path?



LAB

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

1. **Role-play Debate:** Have students role-play as Rokelle and her peers/critics, debating her decision to enter the real estate market during an economic recession.

2. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Write a short story or essay from Rokelle's perspective, detailing her experience of moving to a new country and adapting to a new culture and language.

ØA

- 3. **Research Project:** Investigate the impact of the 2008 economic recession on different industries. Present findings on how businesses adapted or failed during this period.
- 4. **Designing a Business Plan:** In groups, create a business plan for an innovative, eco-friendly real estate company. Focus on sustainability, design, and market strategies.
- 5. **Mock Interview:** Conduct mock interviews where students take turns being Rokelle as a journalist, discussing her career journey and key decisions.
- 6. **STEM and Art Integration Project:** Create a project that integrates STEM and art, similar to Rokelle's interest in designing homes. This could be a model, a drawing, or a digital design.





© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

Discussion Questions:

1. **Overcoming Challenges:** Discuss how Emma and her team adapted their teaching strategies in response to the strike. What does this tell you about the importance of flexibility and innovation in problem-solving?

AA

129

- 2. **Cultural Exchange and Learning:** Reflect on the two-way educational exchange between the UK and Africa in the program. How does learning from different cultural perspectives enhance the educational experience?
- 3. **Impact of Education on Society:** How did the teaching initiative in Alexandra contribute to the broader community? Discuss the long-term societal impacts of such educational interventions.
- 4. **Female Leadership in STEM:** Explore the role of Emma as a leader in this initiative. How does her leadership style contribute to the success of the program?
- 5. **Empowerment through Education:** Analyze how education can be a tool for empowerment, using examples from the chapter. Discuss how education can change individuals' lives and uplift communities.
- 6. **Overcoming Personal Fears:** The narrator overcame her fear of public speaking through teaching. Discuss other examples where stepping out of one's comfort zone can lead to personal growth and success.
- 7. **Responsibility and Privilege:** Emma talks about the responsibility that comes with privilege. Discuss this statement in the context of the chapter and its implications for students and educators.

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

1. **Role-Playing Exercise:** Students role-play as members of the teaching initiative, facing unexpected challenges. They must brainstorm and present innovative solutions to continue their educational mission.

ЯA

130

- 2. **Debate:** Organize a debate on the topic: "Cross-cultural educational exchanges are essential for a holistic learning experience."
- 3. **Research Project:** Students research and present various educational challenges faced in different parts of the world and innovative solutions that have been implemented.
- 4. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Write a short story or essay from the perspective of one of the South African learners, describing their experience and the impact of the pop-up school.
- 5. **Group Discussion:** Conduct a group discussion on the role of women in STEM fields, focusing on leadership, challenges, and opportunities, using examples from the chapter.
- 6. **Interview Project:** Students interview local educators or students who have been part of an educational exchange program. Compile the interviews into a presentation or documentary.
- 7. **Simulation Activity:** Create a simulation of setting up an educational program in a challenging environment. Students must consider logistics, resources, and cultural factors in their planning.



1. **Career Path Evolution:** How did Darcy's career aspirations evolve from veterinary science to medical device research? Discuss the factors that influenced her decisions.

ЯA

131

- 2. **Overcoming Barriers:** What challenges did she face in her journey, and how did she overcome them? Reflect on the role of gender in her career path.
- 3. **Role of Mentorship:** How did mentorship impact her career? Discuss the importance of mentors in shaping professional paths.
- 4. **Balancing Personal and Professional Life:** What strategies did she use to balance her family life, education, and career? How can these strategies be applied in your life?
- 5. **Continuous Learning:** What does her story teach us about the importance of continuous learning and adaptability in professional development?
- 6. **Risk-Taking and Resilience:** How did risk-taking and resilience contribute to her success? Share examples from her story and relate them to your experiences.



LAB

Activities:

- 1. **Career Path Mapping:** Create a visual map of Darcy's career journey, including key turning points, decisions, and influences.
- 2. **Role-Playing Exercise:** In groups, role-play a mentorship session where one student is the mentor (like Vince in the story), and another is a mentee facing a career dilemma.

3. **Debate on Career Changes:** Hold a debate on the topic: "Is it more beneficial to stick to one career path or explore different fields throughout one's professional life?"

ØA

- 4. **Research Project:** Conduct a research project on the development of a specific medical device. Present how research in the laboratory translates to real-world medical applications.
- 5. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Write a short story or essay from Darcy's perspective, focusing on a pivotal moment in her career.
- 6. **Panel Discussion:** Organize a virtual or in-person panel discussion with professionals from various STEM fields to discuss career paths, challenges, and the importance of diversity in STEM.
- 7. **Field Trip:** Arrange a visit to a veterinary clinic or a medical research laboratory to observe real-world applications of the sciences discussed in the chapter.

LAB © Dawn Heimer 2023 132

LATHA PARAVATANENI

Discussion Questions:

1. **Role Models and Influence:** How did Latha's mother influence her career path in STEM? Discuss the importance of role models in shaping career choices.

ЯA

133

- 2. **Overcoming Barriers:** What barriers did she face in her journey, and how did she overcome them? Discuss how societal expectations can impact career choices, especially for women in STEM.
- 3. **Transition from Clinical to Pharmaceutical Research:** What motivated her shift from clinical medicine to pharmaceutical research? Discuss the impact of personal interests and job satisfaction on career decisions.
- 4. **Patient Empathy:** How did her experience with breast cancer change her perspective as a healthcare provider? Discuss the importance of empathy in healthcare professions.
- 5. **The Role of Education and Continuous Learning:** How did further education (like an MBA) contribute to her career? Discuss the importance of continuous learning in professional development.
- 6. **Work-Life Balance:** How did she balance her professional ambitions with her personal life, especially during her health crisis? Discuss strategies to maintain work-life balance in demanding careers.

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

1. **Role-Playing Exercise:** Students can role-play a scenario where they have to make a difficult career decision, like Latha choosing between clinical medicine and pharmaceutical research. This exercise would help students understand the complexities of career choices.

2. **Debate:** Organize a debate on "The impact of gender stereotypes on career choices in STEM." This would allow students to explore and articulate different viewpoints on gender roles in STEM fields.

8A

- 3. **Research Project:** Assign a project where students research and present on a specific field in STEM, focusing on breakthroughs made by women scientists. This could include researching medical advancements, pharmaceutical innovations, or other related topics.
- 4. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Students could write a short story or a diary entry from the perspective of a woman navigating challenges in a STEM career. This would encourage empathy and understanding of the experiences of women in STEM.
- 5. **Interview and Presentation:** Students could interview a female professional in a STEM field and present their findings to the class, focusing on the challenges and successes experienced by the professional.
- 6. **Group Discussion on Work-Life Balance:** Organize a group discussion or a workshop on strategies to achieve work-life balance, particularly in demanding professions like medicine and research.



ELSA SALAZAR CADE

Discussion Questions:

1. **Overcoming Barriers:** How did Elsa overcome the societal and cultural barriers she faced, particularly in pursuing a career in science? Discuss the role of family support and personal resilience in her journey.

ЯA

135

- 2. **Gender and Cultural Expectations:** In what ways did gender and cultural expectations impact her educational and professional choices? How have these expectations changed since her time, and what challenges remain?
- 3. **Inclusive Education:** How did her approach to inclusive education in science classes challenge the traditional teaching methods of her time? Discuss the importance of hands-on learning in understanding complex scientific concepts, especially for students with special needs.
- 4. **Passion for Science:** Explore how her childhood experiences and interests influenced her career path. Discuss the importance of nurturing scientific curiosity in children.
- 5. **Contributions to Science:** What impact did her entomological research have on science and society, particularly in medical technology? Discuss the importance of interdisciplinary research in solving complex problems.
- 6. **Role Models in STEM:** How does her story serve as an inspiration for women and minorities in STEM? Discuss the importance of having diverse role models in the sciences.

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

1. **Research Project:** Investigate the current state of inclusive education in science classrooms. Compare it with the methods and challenges

presented in the chapter. Present findings in a class discussion or a written report.

- 2. **Debate:** Organize a debate on the topic "The Role of Hands-On Experiments in Science Education." Focus on the benefits and challenges of this approach, especially for students with diverse learning needs.
- 3. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Write a short story or essay from the perspective of a student in Elsa's science class, describing the learning experience and its impact.
- 4. **Biography Project:** Create a detailed biography of a female scientist or educator who has made significant contributions to their field. Focus on how they overcame challenges related to gender or cultural biases.
- 5. **Science Experiment:** Conduct a hands-on science experiment inspired by Elsa's teaching methods. Document the process and results, reflecting on the learning experience.
- 6. **Panel Discussion:** Host a panel discussion with local educators and scientists on the challenges and opportunities for women and minorities in STEM fields today, drawing parallels with Elsa's experiences.
- Group Discussion: Host a group discussion on the book "Savage Inequalities" and its implications on Elsa's educational experience. Discuss how socioeconomic factors influence educational opportunities.

LAB © Dawn Heimer 2023 136

CANDICE HUGHES

Discussion Questions:

1. **Early Passion for Science:** How did Candice's early exposure to science influence her career path? Discuss the importance of childhood experiences in shaping future interests.

ЯA

137

- 2. **Overcoming Financial Barriers:** What strategies did she use to overcome financial challenges in her education and career? Discuss the impact of economic factors on pursuing higher education in STEM fields.
- 3. **Role of Mentorship:** How did her experience as a teaching assistant and later as a mentor influence her approach to science and leadership? Debate the importance of mentorship in scientific careers.
- 4. **Career Transitions:** Analyze her decision to move from academia to the biopharmaceutical industry, then to medical communications, and eventually to entrepreneurship. Discuss the challenges and benefits of such career transitions in science.
- 5. **Entrepreneurial Challenges and Gender:** Explore the specific challenges she faced as a female entrepreneur in a male-dominated field. How do societal expectations and gender norms impact women in STEM entrepreneurship?
- 6. **Digital Health Innovation:** What are the potential impacts of her work in digital health, especially the educational game for children with ADD? Debate the role of technology in modern healthcare and patient education.

Activities:

LAB

1. **Research Project:** Conduct a research project on the evolution of digital health technologies and their impact on patient care. Present findings in a class seminar.
2. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Write a short story or diary entry from Candice's perspective during a critical moment in her career, such as the launch of her digital health company.

8AJ

- 3. **Debate: Organize a debate on the statement:** "Entrepreneurship is a viable and necessary path for advancing scientific discovery." Assign roles for and against the statement.
- 4. **Role-Playing Exercise:** Simulate a funding pitch meeting where students play the role of Candice pitching her startup idea and potential investors. Focus on the challenges faced by women in securing funding for tech startups.
- 5. **Science Communication Workshop:** Create a workshop where students develop and present a simplified explanation of a complex scientific concept, mirroring Candice's role as a teaching assistant.

$$\frac{1}{138}$$

ADRIANA L. ROMERO-OLIVARES

Discussion Questions:

1. **Cultural Expectations and Career Choices:** How do cultural and societal norms influence individual career choices, especially in the context of gender? Discuss the impact of these norms on Adriana's journey and compare it with experiences in your own community.

ЯA

139

- 2. **Overcoming Barriers:** Adriana faced several challenges on her path to becoming a scientist. Discuss what personal qualities helped her overcome these obstacles. How can these qualities be cultivated in young students?
- 3. **Role of Mentors and Role Models:** How did mentors and role models play a part in Adriana's scientific journey? Discuss the importance of having diverse role models in education and career development.
- 4. **Breaking Stereotypes in Science:** The story challenges the stereotype of who can be a scientist. Debate the impact of stereotypes on career choices in STEM fields and explore strategies to encourage more inclusive perceptions.
- 5. **Education vs Passion:** Adriana's passion for the environment drove her career choices. Discuss the balance between following one's passion and pursuing a more traditional or secure career path. How important is passion in choosing a career?



LAB

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

1. **Research Project on Scientists Breaking Barriers:** Assign students to research and present on a scientist who broke cultural, societal, or gender barriers. This could include scientists from underrepresented backgrounds or those who pursued unconventional paths.

2. **Debate on Gender Norms in Career Choices:** Organize a debate on the topic: "Gender norms should not influence career choices in modern society." Let students explore different viewpoints and back them with facts and examples.

ØA

140

- 3. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Have students write a first-person narrative or a diary entry from the perspective of someone pursuing a career in a field traditionally not associated with their gender. This exercise encourages empathy and understanding of different perspectives.
- 4. **Environmental Science Project:** In line with Adriana's passion for the environment, students can undertake a project to analyze a local environmental issue. This could involve fieldwork, data collection, and proposing solutions.
- 5. **Role Model Presentation:** Ask students to create a presentation on a role model in a STEM field, particularly focusing on individuals who have overcome significant barriers. This can be an extension of the research project and include an aspect of their personal journey that students find inspiring.

LAB

CHARLOTTE SIBLEY

Discussion Questions:

- 1. **Overcoming Barriers:** How did societal expectations and gender norms impact Charlotte's career choices? Discuss the role of mentorship in her journey.
- 2. **Career Shifts:** What factors influenced her shift from a focus on languages to a career in business and pharmaceuticals? How does this reflect the adaptability required in professional life?
- 3. **Resilience in Adversity:** What does her experience of being fired from Bristol-Myers Squibb teach about resilience in the face of professional setbacks?
- 4. **Leadership Styles:** Analyze Charlotte's approach to leadership. Discuss the importance of being "liked and respected" versus being "feared" in a leadership role.
- 5. **Role of Education:** How did her diverse educational background contribute to her success in various fields? Discuss the value of interdisciplinary learning in career development.
- 6. **Gender Dynamics in the Workplace:** Examine the gender dynamics she experienced during her internships and early career. How have these dynamics changed (or not changed) in modern workplaces?

20

LAB

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

- 1. **Debate:** Organize a debate on the topic: "What determines a successful career in science?" Use Charlotte's journey as a case study.
- 2. **Role Play:** In groups, role-play an interview scenario where Charlotte is applying for her first job at Pfizer. Focus on how she might have presented her skills and experiences.

141

3. **Research Project:** Conduct research on the evolution of women's roles in science and business from the 1950s to the present. Present findings in a multimedia presentation.

8A1

- 4. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Write a short story or a diary entry from Charlotte's perspective during a pivotal moment in her career, such as when she decided to shift from languages to business or when she was fired from Bristol-Myers Squibb.
- 5. **Career Path Mapping:** Create a visual timeline of Charlotte's career path, highlighting key shifts and decisions. Reflect on how her choices and external factors shaped her journey.
- 6. **Panel Discussion:** Host a panel discussion with professionals from various fields discussing the importance of adaptability and resilience in career growth, using Charlotte's story as a reference point.

$$\frac{1}{12}$$

KARIN HOLLERBACH

Discussion Questions:

1. **Exploring Interests:** How do you think Karin's various interests outside of STEM contributed to her professional success in STEM fields?

ЯA

143

- 2. **Stereotype Challenges:** In what ways did she challenge the traditional stereotypes associated with being a scientist or engineer?
- 3. **Career Evolution:** How did Karin's shifting interests from field biology to engineering reflect the dynamic nature of career development in STEM?
- 4. **Integrating Hobbies and Career:** What are the benefits and challenges of incorporating personal hobbies and passions into a professional career, particularly in STEM?
- 5. **Role of Education:** How did the educational environment at MIT influence her career trajectory and choices?
- 6. **Breaking Barriers:** What barriers did she face as a woman in STEM, and how did she overcome them?

Activities:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

- 1. **Research Project:** Investigate the career paths of other prominent women in STEM. Present findings on how their personal interests influenced their professional contributions.
- 2. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Write a short story or essay from the perspective of a student who combines an unusual hobby with a STEM career, exploring the challenges and rewards of this integration.

- 3. **Debate:** Organize a debate on the topic "Is it essential for STEM professionals to integrate their personal passions with their professional work?" with teams presenting arguments for and against.
- 4. **STEM and Art Integration:** Develop a project that combines a STEM field with an art form (like painting, music, or writing). For instance, creating a piece of art that visually represents a scientific concept or principle.
- 5. **Role Model Presentation:** Create a presentation on a STEM professional who has successfully integrated other fields or interests into their work, focusing on how this integration enhanced their contributions to their field.
- 6. **Interview Activity:** Interview a local STEM professional about how their personal interests have influenced their career. Present the findings in a class or group discussion.

$$\frac{1}{144}$$



Discussion Questions

- 1. **Societal Constraints:** How did societal expectations in Iran impact Fatemeh's early interest in STEM? Discuss the role of cultural and societal norms in shaping career choices for women in STEM.
- 2. **Overcoming Language Barriers:** What strategies did Fatemeh use to overcome language barriers when she moved to the US? Discuss the importance of language proficiency in academic and professional success.
- 3. **Role of Family Support:** How did Fatemeh's family, especially her mother, influence her career path? Discuss the impact of familial support in pursuing education and careers in challenging fields.
- 4. **Career Shifts:** What motivated Fatemeh to shift her focus from molecular biology to biomedical engineering and later to public health? Discuss how evolving interests and external circumstances can shape one's career path.
- 5. **Challenges in Professional Growth:** How did Fatemeh overcome gender biases and professional hurdles in her career? Discuss the challenges women face in male-dominated fields and strategies to overcome them.
- 6. **Leadership and Empowerment:** What qualities did Fatemeh develop through the Leadership Readiness Program? Discuss the importance of leadership skills in advancing public health initiatives.

Activities:

LAB

 Research Project: Investigate the status of women in STEM in different countries, focusing on cultural, societal, and educational factors. Present findings in a class seminar or create an informative poster.

145

2. **Debate:** Organize a debate on the topic: "Gender should not define one's career path in STEM." Assign roles for and against the argument.

8AJ

146

- 3. **Creative Writing Assignment:** Write a short story or a diary entry from the perspective of a young woman pursuing STEM in a challenging environment, inspired by Fatemeh's journey.
- 4. **Role-Playing Activity:** Simulate an interview scenario where students take turns being the interviewee (a woman in STEM facing societal challenges) and the interviewer (a potential employer or scholarship panel).
- 5. **Group Discussion:** Organize small group discussions on the topic: "The impact of mentorship and role models in shaping STEM careers for women." Conclude with a group presentation of key insights.
- 6. **Documentary Viewing and Analysis:** Watch a documentary on women in STEM and hold a discussion analyzing the challenges and successes featured in the documentary, comparing them with Fatemeh's journey.

LAB



INTERACTIVE LESSON PLANS

ŝ



Q

Diversity and Inclusion Focus Discussion Points:

1. **Global Representation:** Emphasize the contributions of women scientists from diverse geographical locations, including underrepresented regions in STEM fields. Discuss how cultural backgrounds can influence scientific perspectives and innovation.

AA

148

- 2. **Intersectionality in STEM:** Explore the concept of intersectionality, discussing how factors like race, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, and culture intersect in the lives and careers of women in STEM.
- 3. **Historical Barriers and Triumphs:** Reflect on the historical challenges faced by women in STEM, particularly those from minority groups, and celebrate their groundbreaking achievements despite these barriers.
- 4. **Role of Diverse Perspectives in Scientific Advancement:** Highlight how diverse perspectives contribute to a more comprehensive understanding of scientific problems and lead to innovative solutions.
- 5. **Current Landscape of Diversity in STEM:** Discuss current statistics and trends regarding the representation of women, especially from minority groups, in various STEM fields.

Activities Highlighting the Value of Different Perspectives:

- 1. **Research and Presentations on Women Scientists from Diverse Backgrounds:** Students research women scientists from different cultural, racial, and ethnic backgrounds and present their findings, focusing on how these scientists' backgrounds influenced their work.
- 2. **Diversity in STEM Panel Discussion:** Organize a panel discussion with local women scientists from diverse backgrounds. Allow students to interact with them and understand the myriad paths in STEM.

LAB

- 3. **Global STEM Innovations Project:** Students work on projects that explore scientific advancements from various parts of the world, understanding how different cultures approach scientific problems.
- 4. **Interactive Role-Playing Scenarios:** Create role-playing scenarios where students act out different roles in a scientific team from diverse backgrounds, tackling a problem that requires a multidisciplinary approach.
- 5. **Diversity in Scientific Thought Debate:** Host debates on topics like "How does cultural diversity enhance scientific innovation?" or "The impact of diverse perspectives in environmental conservation."

Reflection Prompts Focusing on Diversity:

- 1. **Reflect on the Role of Diversity in Science:** Ask students to reflect on how having scientists from diverse backgrounds can impact the field of science, considering different cultural approaches to problem-solving.
- 2. **Personal Reflection on Diversity in STEM:** Students write about how their own background could contribute a unique perspective to a STEM field of their interest.

Group Discussion Guidelines:

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

- 1. **Inclusivity in Discussions:** Encourage inclusive discussions where every student feels comfortable sharing their thoughts, irrespective of their background.
- 2. **Respect for Diverse Opinions:** Emphasize the importance of respecting different viewpoints and experiences.
- 3. Focus on Constructive Dialogue: Guide discussions to be constructive and solution-oriented, especially when addressing challenges related to diversity.

149

Self-Assessment Tools:

1. **Diversity Awareness Quiz:** Develop a quiz for students to assess their understanding and awareness of diversity issues in STEM.

AA

150

2. **Personal Diversity Action Plan:** Have students create a plan on how they can contribute to increasing diversity and inclusivity in their future STEM endeavors.

Career Exploration Focused on Diversity:

- 1. **Exploring Careers of Diverse Scientists:** Encourage students to explore the careers of scientists from various backgrounds and understand how diversity shaped their career paths.
- 2. **Mentorship Programs with Diverse Scientists:** Facilitate mentorship programs where students can be mentored by professionals from diverse backgrounds in STEM.

Personal Connection Activities:

- 1. **Cultural Exchange STEM Fair:** Host a STEM fair where students present scientific concepts or innovations from their cultural perspective.
- 2. **My Unique STEM Story:** Students create a personal narrative or collage that reflects their cultural background and how it could enrich their chosen field in STEM.

Career Assessment Tools:

1. Essays

LAB

a. **Career Exploration Essay:** Assign an essay where students research a particular career and write about the required education, skills, daily responsibilities, and potential impact of the career on society.

b. **Personal Reflection Essay:** Ask students to write a personal reflection essay on a career they aspire to, discussing why they are interested in it, what they think the challenges might be, and how they plan to overcome these challenges.

8A1

151

2. Presentations

- a. **Career Project Presentation:** Have students select a career, research it, and present their findings to the class. This could include job requirements, educational paths, a day in the life of someone in that career, and how the career contributes to society.
- b. **Role Model Presentation:** Students can choose a female role model in a specific career field, research her life and achievements, and present how this person has influenced their perspective on career possibilities.

3. Interviews

a. **Interview a Professional:** Encourage students to interview a female professional in a career of interest. They can prepare questions, conduct the interview, and present their findings, including what they learned about the career and the professional's journey.

4. Group Discussions

- a. **Career Exploration Roundtables:** Organize roundtable discussions where groups discuss different careers and the roles of women in these fields and share their own aspirations and concerns about career choices.
- b. **Debates on Career Challenges:** Host debates on topics such as "the challenges women face in STEM careers" or "work-life balance in demanding professions." This encourages critical thinking and awareness of real-world issues.

5. Project-Based Learning

a. **Career Exploration Project:** Students can undertake a project where they explore a career field in-depth, including interviewing professionals, visiting workplaces (if possible), and creating a portfolio or a project showcasing their learning.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

6. Creative Projects

a. **Create a Career Vision Board:** Have students create a vision board that represents their aspirations, including careers they are interested in, skills they want to develop, and goals they wish to achieve.

ØA

152

b. **Design a "Day in the Life" Comic Strip:** Students can create a comic strip or storyboard depicting a typical day in the life of someone in their chosen career, illustrating both the challenges and rewards.

7. Digital Storytelling

a. **Career Journey Stories:** Students can use digital storytelling tools to create a short video or slideshow that tells the story of a woman in a career field they admire, highlighting her journey, challenges, and successes.

8. Role-Playing Games

a. **Career Exploration RPG:** Create a role-playing game (RPG) where students simulate different careers. They could face various scenarios and make decisions based on their chosen profession, thereby learning about the daily realities of that career.

9. Career Exploration Journals

a. **Reflective Career Journals:** Encourage students to maintain a journal over a period of time, reflecting on different careers they learn about, their thoughts and feelings about these careers, and their evolving interests and goals.

10. Interactive Career Fairs

a. **Virtual Career Fair:** Host a virtual career fair where professionals from various fields give short presentations and answer questions. This gives students direct insight into different careers.

11. Simulation Activities

a. Job Simulation Challenges: Set up simulation activities where students perform tasks related to a specific career. For instance, a coding challenge for those interested in software development or a mock trial for aspiring lawyers.

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB



a. **Visual Career Mapping:** Students create visual maps of the steps and milestones they anticipate in their chosen career path, including education, internships, first jobs, and future aspirations.

ØA

13. Case Studies

a. **Career Case Studies:** Use case studies of successful women in different fields. Students can analyze these cases, discuss the factors contributing to each woman's success, and relate them to their own aspirations.

14. Creative Writing

a. **Future Self Letters:** Have students write a letter to their future selves, describing the career they hope to have, the challenges they anticipate, and the goals they wish to achieve.

15. Art Projects

a. **Career Inspiration Collages:** Students create collages using magazine cutouts, drawings, and text to represent the career they are interested in. This is a visual and creative way to express their career aspirations.

16. Podcasts or Blogging

a. **Career Exploration Podcast/Blog:** Students could create a podcast or blog series interviewing different professionals, discussing various career options, and sharing their learning journey.

17. Mentoring Programs

a. **Peer Mentoring Sessions:** Older students or external mentors in various fields can be paired with younger students to discuss career options, share experiences, and provide guidance.





PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT IDEAS FOR TEACHERS







- 1. **Diversity and Inclusion Workshops:** Websites of educational organizations like ASCD or Edutopia often list workshops and resources for diversity and inclusion.
- 2. **STEM Conferences:** Sites like NSTA (National Science Teaching Association) or IEEE provide information on upcoming STEM conferences.
- 3. **Online Courses on Current Scientific Advancements:** Platforms like Coursera, EdX, or Khan Academy offer courses on recent scientific developments.
- 4. **Cultural Competency Training:** Websites such as Teaching Tolerance or the National Education Association offer resources and training modules.
- 5. **Peer Learning Groups:** Social networks like LinkedIn or educational forums like Teachers Pay Teachers can facilitate peer learning groups.
- 6. **Guest Speaker Sessions:** Speaker bureaus like the National Speakers Bureau or individual university websites can help find STEM professionals for talks.
- 7. **Curriculum Development Workshops:** Organizations like the International Society for Technology in Education (ISTE) provide such workshops.
- 8. **Book Clubs:** Goodreads or Scholastic offer platforms to organize and find relevant books for educator book clubs.
- 9. **Collaboration with Local Universities and STEM Professionals:** University websites or platforms like ResearchGate can facilitate these collaborations.
- 10. Educational Podcasts and Webinars: Sites like TED-Ed or NPR offer educational podcasts and webinars relevant to STEM and diversity.

155

LAB

11. **Teaching with Technology Training:** Websites like Common Sense Education provide resources and training for teaching with technology.

8A1

156

- 12. **Mentorship Programs:** ASCD or Teacher.org offer information on mentorship programs for educators.
- 13. **Research on STEM Education Trends:** Journals on sites like JSTOR or Educational Researcher publish research on STEM education trends.
- 14. **Classroom Diversity Assessments:** The National Center for Culturally Responsive Educational Systems (NCCRESt) provides resources for such assessments.
- 15. **Workshops on Unconscious Bias:** Harvard's Project Implicit offers resources and workshops on understanding unconscious bias.
- 16. **Field Trips to Science Centers and Museums:** Websites of local science museums or centers, like the Smithsonian, provide educational field trip options.
- 17. **Networking with Diverse STEM Educators:** Professional organizations like the American Educational Research Association (AERA) offer networking opportunities.
- 18. **Professional STEM Education Associations:** Sites of associations like the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (NCTM) are useful.
- 19.**Social Media Groups and Forums:** Platforms like Reddit (specific educational subreddits) or Facebook (educational groups) can be relevant.
- 20. **Implementing Project-Based Learning:** Edutopia or the Buck Institute for Education offers resources on PBL in STEM classes.

LAB



8A1

157

eN

© Dawn Heimer 2023

LAB

Dawn Heimer grew up in a small town in western New York with more cows and corn than people. After she inherited suitcases full of college nursing textbooks, she could often be found with her nose in a book. Fortunately for us, those books had glorious illustrations of the layers of dissected frogs and human skin, sparking her interest in science. True to her upbringing, she has pursued academic and industry-sponsored research for over 30 years. She obtained her Ph.D. in Biobehavioral Sciences and Behavioral Genetics from the University of Connecticut, where she conducted family studies in dyslexia and befriended multiple generations of affected family members. She also conducted and published scientific research on gender differences in learning and memory in small animals and held clinical research posts at several top pharmaceutical and medical device companies. This is where people usually say: "and the rest is history." Fortunately, again, for us, her story continues. The concept for this book project developed over several years of introspection into her role models, exposure to multiple amazing women over her career, and noticing a gap in the young adult literature of stories on living (not dead), female, STEM role models. She is an accomplished abstract photographer and is an artist with The Copley Society of Art in Boston. She also works with an online studio and production company for art-inspired clothing. She lives in Rhode Island with her husband and two wonderful children, who serve as motivation for this book project. They spend as much time as possible at the beach and traveling the world.

